This document was created using best practices in document accessibility. Should you need
assistance reading or understanding this document, call 902-543-8181 or email info@modl.ca.

Municipal Council Meeting Agenda
Tuesday, December 9, 2025 - 6:00 p.m.
MODL Council Chambers — 10 Allée Champlain Drive, Cookville

[EEN

© © N o o~ w0 DN PP

T
© o
[EEN

10.1.1
10.1.2
10.1.3

10.2
10.2.1

10.3
10.3.1

10.4
104.1
10.4.2

Call to Order

Mi’kma’ki Territorial Acknowledgement
Announcements, Acknowledgements, Recognition
Public Input (15 Minutes)

Changes/Approval of Agenda (as circulated)
Approval of Minutes — Council November 25, 2025
Business Arising from Minutes

Awarding of Tenders/RFPs - Nil
Presentations/Scheduled Times - Nil
Consideration of Correspondence - Nil

Recommendations from Committees & Boards

Finance Committee 1
PRO Kids Reserve BUget REQUEST.........cccveueiieiiee e se e 2-4
Repeal of By-law 017 Police Clearance Certificate Application Fees ..........c..cccoue.... 5-13
Letter of Support — Lunenburg County Seniors Safety SOCIELY .......cccccevevveiieiiieiinnnnns 14
REMO Advisory Committee

Approval of Amendments to Inter-Municipal Emergency Service Agreement........ 15-27

Nominating Committee
Appointment of Member-at-Large to Planning Advisory Committee..............ccocueenee. 28

Fire & Emergency Services Committee
2026/2027 Annual Fire Department GrantS...........cccocveieeieeresieesieese e seese e sieeee e 29
Proposed Code of Conduct for Senior Fire Services OffiCers.........cocvvrvviveivernnne. 30-33



Municipal Council Agenda

December
Page 2 of 2

11.
11.1

1111
11.1.2
11.1.3
11.1.4

11.2
11.2.1

12.
12.1

12.2
13.
14.
14.1
14.2

15.

92025

Staff Reports

Administration

Revised Strategic Priorities and Council Workplan 2026/2027 ...........c.ccccccovevennnnne. 34-43
Public Input re Strategic Priorities and Council Workplan

Approval of Amendments to Policy 058 FEES.........cccvevviieiieie e 44-48
Second Reading — By-law 047 Potable Water Supply Upgrade Program................. 49-58
Finance

Uncollectible Accounts for Write Off Consideration .............cccoeveininiincniinnennns 59-61

Mayor’s/Deputy Mayor’s/Councillors’ Matters

LCLC Update
Letter of Support for Big Tancook Island Speed Limits (Veinotte) ...........c.cccceenenee. 62-77

Added Items
In Camera

Personnel Matter under Section 22(2)(c) of the MGA
Contract Negotiations under Section 22(2)(e) of the MGA

Adjournment



Council

Item #10.1

December 9, 2025
Authorization: T. MacEwan

Memorandum
To: Mayor Elpeth McLeanWile, and Councilbrs
Fom: Crairperson & Membersof the Finane Committee

Date: December 2225

Re: Reommendations of the khanae Committee

The Firance @mmittee, insession on Tesday,December 22025, made the following
recommendation(s)to Council:

1. That Municipal®uncil approve up to $21,418.99 in additiakfunds for the PRO Kids
program forthe 20252026 fiscal year, and further, that these funds comé ofthe PRO

KidsReserves

2. That Municipal®uncil repeal Bylaw 017, Fees Charged for Police Clear&nc#ficate
Applications and conduct first reading at the December 9, 2025ncil meeting.

3. That Municipal council write atier of support for the Lnenburg County Seors Safety
Saiety in heir request for additional funding from the Proce.

Respetfully submitted,
Chaiperson andViembers
Firance @mmittee

/laa

Page 1 of 77



Council

Item #10.1.1

December 9, 2025
Authorization: T. MacEwan

dZ Dpv] 1% o0]SC }( $Z ]*SE&] S }( >puv v pEP

) 9.2.2
Z < oS E ° \
U (} 11} December 2, 2025

Z %}ES S}W &lv v Juu]ss

Apnuldsd CW d]*sC }o]A EU WEIPE u }}E Jv §}E
S W u E TU TiTh

Z W WZK <]« Z e+« EA pt 8§27 cu 3

Z }uu v S]}v

dz s §Z &]lv v juul]ss ~E ,'u ¢ S} Duv] 1% o }puv ]Jo SZ S Duv]
%0 %0 E}A o n% 3} "TiLLATH. 60 ]\ 1013v o (v « (JE 8Z WZK <] * %o
(]*+ oC E®U v (U -SZ EL 875 SZ ¢ (v ¢ }u }usS }( SZ WZK <] -
A us3]A epuu @

€ «Z}ES JA EAJ A} 2 I C ouvde }J(CIUE E %}ESV }voC pe

IPE}uv
d} & v §Z 1iidiriiio (J*+ 0 C EU 8 (( Z A %E)} ++ }A E il %o
v EoC Tii Jv ]JA]l B 0 % %o0] 3]lveU (}E 3}5 0 %o % E}A Ulpvs }o

Yuv Jo[+ IVEE] pgllv 8} 8Z % E}PE uU A Z A E ]+ ips A E "1
§} 'H%o%o}CEé YA %OCE}PCE uX

% % 0] 3]}ve E +3]Joo JvP E JA V Z}A A EU }JpyE pPEE vE pu F
]8]}v 0 %% 0] S]}veU u}&® (puv « E E <pJ]E&E X dZ WZK <]  &E
AZ] Z & % E « vie v Hupo 8]1}v }( (pv « JA E A E]J}us p P 3 C
(uv « A E v} E <pJ]E X &}E £ u%o U ]J(]Jviv (]* oC E A Z

% % 0] $]}ve ]Jv §8Z § C € 8Z 8§ }voC E «pu]J]E “diUIIIU 8Z “fiUiIii ¢
00} 8§ 8} 8Z WZK <]« E » EA X 11T A +35Z (JES5C EA v
E « EA 3} Juu} 8 %% 0] Vv3e[ E <u *5eX

Page 2 of 77



=M
—_
(e
—_
-
=]

] pee]}v

WZK <] *]J* % E}PE u 3Z 8 % E}A] e« (Jvv ] o e+¢]e8v 8} Z]Jo E
Duv] 1% 0]3C }( >pv v pEP AZ}U pu 8} o | }( (pv U E v} o0 §
E E 3]}vU v  pOSUE o S]AJS] *X dZ]e % E}IPE u *3E]JA « 3} E |
A EC Z]Jo VvV CIUSZ Z * V }%%}ESUV]EC 5} % ES] [% § X

n

t }vS]vp S} e ]PV](] vS]v E e e ]v SZ }
v]v E ¢ Jv %%o0] S]}ve C E& (S E C EX
*}JUE < S} epeS Jv §Z % E}PE u o}vPrs EuX

[ ]

o WX
o
)
M
U
o
(7213
M

<

—
<
)

Iv §Z u vSJu U §Z ]o]sC S} e SZ (MV ¢ ]Jv §8Z WZK <]« E * (
(o0 ££] ]10]85C S} %o %} ES 131}v 0 %0 %0] S]}ve §Z]e (]* o C EX

ASE & P] &) pe

WZK <] » *u% %} ESs (uJo] » v 1u% =1, « <u 0]5C }( o]( C u IJvP

§]A]8] © 83Z 8 eu%%}ES Z 03/ .U %% Vv esU v }vv S]}vX tZ v }
*$C S8]JAUu §81}8Z E+USE Vv A Z]vl+U v ( ou}lE ]JvA}oA ]
§} 88 & A oor ]JvP v «AT1ly Y G e+ ve }( o0}VP]VP (JE A EC}v

H P SI&]J]vv] o /u> ] l}ve

d} }vS]vp %eE} (»]vP Ul %% 0] S]iveU u}CE M P S]e E «plE
AYHo ©00}A & (( .Y JA G vC ]8]I}V 0 % %o0] &]}ve pvilo §Z (]e
§} E < <3 13]}v « fuv.. 0 8 E Jv 83Z (]* oX VC pve% v (pv « A}
E « EA (JE (PSPE p- X

dZ WZK <] «+ Z + EA +« UEE v30C Z » "1iUBdIOXBOX

oJu§ Z vP lepes Jv ]o]SC
El

/v ops]}vU JA E<]SCU «u]8C v *¢] 10]3C ~/ >DK >-o

WZK <] ¢ ]JE 30C *Uu%%}ESe [ ~ <u]SCU ]A E+]3CU /v ope]}vU
EE] E+ 3Z 5 % E A v3 % }%0 (E}u (LOOC % ES] 1% S$]vP ]Jv E
E ulA }JE E p U u}E Jv]Al posU EP Eo0 - }(]vi}iuu P E
]E puesS v U v e U V]VP(HO E & S]]}V }%0%}ESUV]S] X dZ]
VA]J]E}vu v8§ AZ E JA E+ }Juupv]8Cuu E+*( oA olu UE %E
&Jv v ] 0 ee¢]eS v VZO0% 0AOSZ %0 C]JvP (] o U veuE]vP 82

Page 3 of 77



u E TU 1iin
W B }(

]Jvs E S v v E 3Z & $Z v (Jvv]o % ]35CUAZ] Z «SE vPSZ v
e (JE A EC}v X

"SE S P]  }tuupv] S]}lve

El

t}EIl %0 Vv

UJV]*SE 3]}v }( 8Z WZK <] » % E}IPE u ]* A]J8Z]v 8Z HEE v A}
W EleU v d}pE]Jeu 5 ((X

05 Ev S]A -

Juv ]Jo }uo ] v}3 8} o00}A <3 (( 8§} ee E « EA (UV * 3} *H%o %
% E}PE uX

}v ope]tv

" ((E }uuv 8Z S SZ &Jlv v juc1lss  E }uu v e S} Duv] 1% o }
§} "TiU0iI6XBb6 ]V ]18]}v o (uv (}E& SZ WZK <] * % E}PE u (E}u S
Alpo o00}A <3 (( 8} (pv J< v %% 0] $]}ve & JA pvslo 8Z

% ESU VS Z « S]}vU W EIlsU v d}pE&E]eu
Z %}ES WE % Ed]+¢C }o]A EUWE}IPE u }}E v §}E
Z %}ES %o %o E}/

§ Z Al A C X XKX

Page 4 of 77



Council

Iltem #10.1.2

December 9, 2025
Authorization: T. MacEwan

Memorandum

To: Mayor McLean-Wile and Councillors

From: Susan Berry, Supervisor, Corporate Services
Date: December 9, 2025

Re: Repeal Bylaw 017A Fees Charged for Police Clearance Certificate Application Fees

The Finance Committee, in session on Tuesday, December 2, 2025, recommended to Municipal
Council conduct first reading of Repeal Bylaw 017A Fees Charged for Police Clearance
Certificate Applications.

The Committee made the recommendation to Council to assist residents by streamlining the
process to obtain a criminal record check by removing the step of obtaining a receipt prior to
attending the RCMP detachment that serves their community. This will help remove a barrier
to obtaining employment and address equity implications caused by both the fee and the
additional travel. This is inline with the other neighbouring municipalities that are served by
the RCMP for policing and will help create consistency across the county.

If Council agrees the following motion is required:

Conduct first reading of Repeal Bylaw 017A Police Clearance Certificate Application Fees

Page 5 of 77



Municipality of the District of Lunenburg

Amending By-law Details

Name Repeal of Fees Charged for Police Clearance Certificate
Application
Number 017A

Legislative Authority Municipal Government Act
Effective Date

Be it enactedby the Council of the Municipality of the District of Lunenburg, under the

authority of the Municipal Government Act, that By-law 017, Fees Charged for Police Clearance
Certificate Application adopted on December 21, 2005 and amended November 18, 2008 is
hereby repealed.

Effective date of Original by-law December 21, 2005
Date of first reading December 9, 2025
Date of advertisement of notice .r inte .tion  vebsite) December 9, 2025

Date of second reading
Date of advertisement ¢ nassage of by-lekffective date.
Date of mailing a certified cc v uf by-law to Minister

| certify that this By-law Respecting the Repeal of By-law 017 Fees Charged for Police
Clearance Certificate Application was repealed by Municipal Council and published as
indicated above.

Signature of Municipal Clerk Date

Page 6 of 77



MUNICIPALITY OF THE DISTRICT OF LUNENBURG
A By-law Respecting
Fees Charged for Police Clearance Certificate Applications
Approved December 21, 2005
AmendedNovember 182008

Be It Enactedy the Council of the Municipality of the District of Lunenburgalws:
1.0  Short Title
This By-law shall be known a& By-law Respecting Fees Charged for Police Clearance

Certificate ApplicationsDQG PD\ EH FLWHG DV 33ROLFH &OHDUDQFH
FeesByODZ"

2.0 Interpretation

21 3$FW’~ PHMQipal Géernment AcS.N.S., Chapter 18 of the Acts of 1998.
[amended Nov. 18, 2008]

22 3&HUWLILFDWH $SSOLFDWLRQ )HH" PHDQV mM)EKpUJIH LPSR
of theMunicipal Government A¢h an amount to be determined pursuanhte By-law.
[amended Nov. 18, 2008]
2.3 S0XQLFLSDOLW\" PHDQV WKH OXQLFLSDOLW\ RI WKH 'LVWL
2.4 35 & 0 3" PHDQV WKH 5R\DO &DQDGLDQ ORXQWHG 3ROLFH

2.5 S6WXGHQW™ PHDQV RQH ZKR DWWHQGV D VFKRRO

2.6  "Volunteer" means amdividual performing services for a nqmofit organization who
does not receive in respect of those services

I compensation, other than reasonable reimbursement or allowance for expenses
actually incurred, or

i. money or any ther thing of value in lieu of compensation in excess of five
hundred dollars per year

and may include a director, officer, trustee or employee of the organizadicuan to
Section 2 of the Volunteer Protection Act, S.N.S, Chaptef ide Acts of 2002.
[amended Nov. 18, 2008]

Page 7 of 77



3.0

4.0

4.1

4.1A

4.2

4.3

5.0

5.1

5.2

Page 8 of 77

Application Fee for the Police Clearance Certificate Application Fee

The amount of the Police Clearance Certificate Application Fee levied pursuant to this
By-law shall be determined in accordance witbprovisions of this Bylaw and
6FKHGXOH 3$-arkl WKLV %\

Application Process

Applications for Police Clearance Certificates nonvolunteersshall be first presented

to the Municipal Office at 210 Aberdeen Road, Bridgewater, NS. ppepriate
application fee shall be paid in full before the application is forwarded to.@\&1HP.

For further clarity, the appropriate fee must be paid in full to the Municipality before any
review is undertaken by the R.C.M.P.[amended Nov. 18, @08]

Application for Police Clearance Certificates for voluntesrd studentshall be
presented directlip the R.C.M.R, and no application fee is required to be paid to the
Municipality beforea review is undertaken.[amended Nov. 18, 2008]

The Certificate Application Fees shall be collected by the Municipality.

The Applicant will be responsible to deliver the application form and payment receipt
issued by the Municipality requiredto the appropriate office of the R.C.M.P.
[amended Nov. 18, 2008]

Issuance of Police Clearance Certificates

Upon receipt of the application and payment receipt issued by the Municipality, the
R.C.M.P. will initiate research. Where determined to be appropriate, @ R. will
issue a Clarance Certificate. The Municipality of the District of Lunenbumdpes not
issueClearance Certificates.[amended Nov. 18, 2008]

No refunds will be issued.



Schedule “A”
Police Clearance Certificate Application Fees
The following fee schedule applies to all applications for Police Clearance Certificates to be
issued by the R.C.M.P. responsible for policing the Municipality of the District of Lunenburg.
The Certificate Application Fee for all applications except for students and volunteers shall be

$25.00 per application. Volunteers and students are exempt from application fees. [amended
Nov. 18, 2008]

For greater clarity:
VOIUNLEEIS ::zcazvinsicivisirissssnasammmnmsas No cost
STHAENTS! svinmssamsmmnnmpmmene e o No cost
LB » vc s nrseabrasssonsasiiaisisusnnns $25.00
[amended Nov. 18, 2008]
Municipal Clerks Annotation for Official By-law Book
Date of First Reading: October 9, 2008
Date of Advertisement — Notice of Intention: October 21, 2008 and October 24, 2008
Date of Second Reading: November 12, 2008

Date of Advertisement of Passage of By-law*:  November 18, 2008

I certify that the amendments to this the “Fees Charged for Police Clearance Certificate
Applications By-law” was adopted by Council and published as indicated above.

%am%m@mw A 18,2000
Muni€ipal Clerk Date

*Effective Date of the By-law unless otherwise specified in the By-law

Page 9 of 77




dZ Dpv] 1% o0]SC }( $Z ]*SE&] S }( >pv v pEP

Z <p 8 (}E ]+]1}v 9.3.1
December 2, 2025

Z %}ES S}W &Jv v luu]ss

Auoulssd CW e v EECU "u% EA]}E JE%IE § ~ EA] -
5§ W u E TU Ti7h

Z W Co Aiiéo t W}o] o E v ES](] 8§ %%o0] S]}tv

Z }uu v S]}v

AZYuo }pv ]Jo Alez 8}y & }A Z . (}JE& o0 EJul]vo E }E - Z |
E % o0}( Co Aliié6 2.+ 7 EP (}= W}o] o E v E3](] & %
( (JE& Wl}o] o . v W1 & «X

IPE}uv

dZ Dpv] 1% 0]SC }( s~ ]*SE] S }( >uv v pyEP ~DK >« puEE vsSoC

ES](] 8 %%o0] 3]}v & X dZ]e Co A }uso]v e 3Z ( Z EP q
%o E} o  %}0] o E v E3](] 8 U }uu}voC IVIAv o E]Ju]v o
E ] v8e }( DK >X dZ Co A } e vVv}8 & <pJ]E ( * (JE vC Alopuvs
JEP v]l 8]}v JE (}E *8pu vSeX &}E 00 }53Z E %oUE %} » $Z (]
Hv Z vP  ¢]Jv  1116X

dZ HPEE vS % E} o ]¢ & ] v AZ} ]Je v}§ +3u v3U }JE Alopv:
JEP v]I 8]}vU }u ¢ ]Jv % Ee*}v 8} 8Z Duv] % o ~ EA] + plo JvP &)
E  ]%3X dZ]s E [%3 ]* %E v &) §Z Z DW & Zu vE 5Z § » C
§Z @& o] V& E +] X

dZ pE v }( Z AJvP &} P} &} 8A} ](( & v§ o} §]lve Vv % C ( (3

Z e v E ] C Juv]o AZ] Z Z e« JE 8§ 5 (( 8} £ ulv 32 ( -]
( (J& E]Ju]v o E }CE Z le (}J& u%o0}Cu vsSX

Page 10 of 77



U TiTh

(@}

‘M0 C
W A }

=

/v >uv v pEP }pv3C }3Z 8Z ]+83E] § }( >pv v pEP v §Z d}Av }(
EJul]vo E }E Z le (}JE E ] vs8e AZ} E v}$ *3p vse v Alopv:
D Z}v CU §8Z d}Av }( >uv v uEPU v 8Z Dpv] ]% 0]3C }( Z 5 @

J+SE] & PV] 1% |odBRv }( | d}Av }(| d}AV }(
>uv v pER Z S EE] P A SDEZ}vV >uv v pEP

¢

& t u%o}Qu vs “iAXili & E TTIXII & E & E

& t & E & E & E & (E & E
Alopvs EleSp vse

dZ Dpv] ]% 0]3C }( Z 8 GEU d}Av }( D Z}v C v d}Av }( >puv v p
% }0] JvP « EA] X dZ d}Av }( E] P A3 E u%o0}Ce ]3¢ }JAv upv]

&UESZ EU (E}ee §Z %E}A]v SZ E ] A E] SC}I(( = Z EP
}ve]es vS§oC } v}sS Z EP ( (}JE 3, vse }JE Alopvs E-X

Duv] 1% o]sC EJul]v o ‘& _"]lh]& 0Q3EIE Z | & (}J&E
U%o0}Cu VvS§ NS 1 vSelstlopvs &

Duv] 1% 0]3C J(®2Xii ~(E __ ]( u% }C(Uc-vE ]e
JUVSC }( VSIRIA]ISZ 3Z ‘wnju , = (| E o
PIA (Fvu /3e

Duv] 1% o]sG J((E > (E
, VS

Duv] 1% o]sC }((C (E
}o Z <S5 &

t e , v8e Z P]}VidaXor = § £ A] 'o} | (E
Duv] 1% o]sC

Duv] J% o]SC J((& (E
tuvsC }( <]vPep

Duv] 1% 0]8C I(&Z61 = § £ A] '0} | (E
]+8E] § }( z Eu}psz

d}YAv }( vv %}p]e* "T6X0n “oxoen ( (J& }vo]v
(E v % E-}v

d}Av }( < vEA]bo (E (E

d}Av }( W] 8}u (E (E

Duv] 1% o]sC }((E (E
EE]VvPS}v

Page 11 of 77



"HO0C 06U Tifn

W P }@

] pee]}v

EJu]l]vo E }E Z Il zZ A Ju
§Z E Avpy PV ES Z- v ]Jv E

0SZ}uPZ «u 00 ]v

}Jve] & 8]}v pE]VP 8Z A op 3]}v}i(8z ( (JE& 8Z &Julvo E }
ANAE o }ve] & S]}ve EJ]* AZ v A op 3]VvP 8Z HEE VS % E} e
}%38]}veX dZ & <p]E u v3 (}E %% 0] Vv3e 8} %ZCe+] 00C AJ-]3 382
% C SZ "1in ( V %}* Z 00 VP *U % ES3] po EoC (}E ]Jv ]JA] pu o-
( (Jvv] o }veSE JvSeX dZ "ThA ( V %o} % E}Z] ]15]1A EE] «
e UHE]VP U%o0}Cu v8X dZ]s ]*%E}%}ES]}V S 0C Ju%e S <u]SCre
( (Jvv]oZ E¢®*Z] %X dZ]e pE v Iv op = SZ ( V SE VeXo}ES
AN EA] ¢ plo JvPX &}E §zZ}e Vv8 E]Jv 37 A}EI(JE U 8z "if (
ZPUE o X
dZ & Avp Pv E 8§ 0} E % o« » vse & (( 8Ju X /v 1i18liAd DK >
AZ] Z & % E « v8e u]v]upu ¥ 0i6 v8 & &]}ve 8 3Z (E}VS }uvs
H]o JvPX dZ]e ]J* 8Ju 3Z 8§ 8 * }pd *_](83 8} ]Jv E o E *%}ve]A
]Jvs E S]}ve v Jvcu]E] .
"SE S P] &} pe
dZ @& u}A o }( 82 ( e} 18 A]8Z EJulvo E }E Z I« Alpo Z
<p o]8C }(0]( C 1% E}A (VP ((}E& ]0]8C (JE& & +] v8e v <Ju%o
E «<pPJE €& }E ¢ - 'Y

H P SI&Jvv] o /u%o] S]}ve

o}A ]« & o }uSo]v]vP 3Z & A vp ¢} ]88 A]3Z 8Z E]Ju]v o E
% *3 (JA (]* o C E-X

&le o z| E Z A vyu

T1170I17A TiA 0T XTI

Ti71170 P60 161K

TiTTITy P00 6TAKII

1Tl TPEOTTA XTI

Titilni "0 61IX]|I

Page 12 of 77

S v &
«JvP }A E §Z
Ju% E]e}v 8} $Z }A & oo

% ES }( §Z U%oO}(;U V.
% *3 (A (]*+ o C

U P 3U ]Je «8Joo0 E A



oJu § Z vP lepes Jv ]Jo]SC

Z ulAlvP 3§z 131}v 0 *3 % }( }u]vP 8} 8Z Dpv] ]% o ~ EA] + u]
§Z uluvs }( EJA]JvP E <u]E& }(]Jv]Al poev JvP E }E Z IX
/v ope]}vU ]JA E-+]S5CU <pn]8C v ee] ]0]SC ~/ >DK >e

Z oo vP +] v&](] $ZE)}uPZ 3Z /| o ve & Z]|PZo]PZE YA v

"SE S P] tuupv] S]}lve
dZz & & v} }uupv] S]}ve Jeep s pv €& SZ PEE vS E }luu v S]}v

t}EIl %0 v
AQIPZE v E =+ v +& (( A Jo ]0]3C 8} & +%}v &} }8Z @& JV<u]E] *
E}uPZoC 0fAi }puvs E A]e]8X
05 Ev S]A -
r JE 3§ 35 (( 8} JVA «8]P 8. }lvo] » %C }A] & }( EJu]l]vo E }E
r > A §Z Co A « ]e
v ope]}tv

dz E & Vv (]8.} & % P 8Z Co A v & u}lA]lvP 37 ( oo}
Z leU v A}lpo % E}A] TU]VIE Ju% E}A u vSe 8} E ] VvS[* <p 0]3C
uJee]}veX oJu]lv <'VP 8Z ( A}po &E % E ¢ v3 o0}ee }( E A vp ]v
iAUITIX

% ESu VS

Z %}ES WE % E C

Z %}ES %o % E}/

§ Z Al A C X XKX

Page 13 of 77



Council
Item #10.1.3

December 9, 2025
Request for Agenda Items under Mayor’s/Deputy Mayor’s/Councillors’ Matters Authorization: T. MacEwan

To Chief Administrative Officer
From Councifler Alispn Sm:\ he
Date Novemboer 4t ) 20

1. Agenda ltem

Comduw HMevs : j‘ﬂ;’ VFS\“(PW'(’ —-@r Sentors S*-@d)('n Pfﬂam“

2. On what agenda do you want the item placed? Committee/Date
Fnanee Cowmj\—\w bcwm\aw S,20285
3. Do you have written material to circulate with the agenda? Yes [ No X

If so, please attach it to this form. If no, please explain below.

The Hvwenour Couud\’ Sendors S~€‘-¢|"~1 5»:4},{\{ {1 b
5-€V\ﬂ»ﬂ/j a \d’éer “‘D e PYDVM¢( to » 1,\/{ an~ WNcveas<
wn funding - The LessS is vequestn Fiu - HoB L gadribala

(SR 4 - Swr{/_\gr{—'

?

4, What is its relevance to Council/Committe

T Sentors Skfd‘-] V“’OYA'A V4 owportard Serviee M oows

(ﬁ“w{']' Hvu f£5: vioes (4 lof Su.h oY <Q wh AN Mrease
w ""’.,t\'\A\ .

Q

5. What outcome(s) are ou seeking:

A— \-(,\'{"U/ o€ Su—f()t,,*

M7 S

Councillor’s signature

Approved Yes [J No O

If no, reason for denial.

Mayor or Chair of Committee Date

Page 14 of 77




Council

Item #10.2.1

December 9, 2025
Authorization: T. MacEwan

Municipality of the District of Lunenburg
10 Allée Champlain Drive, Cookvilgva ScotiagCanadaB4V9E4

Administration
Phone: 902.53.8181 Fax:; 9048.7123 Web Siteavww.modl.ca

November 27, 2025

Mayor Elspeth McLea#Vile & Council

10 Allée Champlain Drive

CookvilleNS B4V 9E4

DearMayor McLeanWile:

RE:REMO IntefMunicipal Services Agreement (IMSA) Review

At the November 18, 2029Regional Emergency Management Organization (REMO) Advisory Committee meeting,
the Committee passed the following motion:

“REMOAdvisory Committee direct staff to submit final draft of the IMSA to individual Councils for
approvaland submit for legal review.

Please forwardhis document outlining the proposed changgsur Council foreview andapproval. Once
approved, please forward a copy of Council’s motion approvinghiamgeso Rebecca Baccardax, Community
Readiness Coordinattw rebecca.baccardax@lunenburgREMO.ca

Sincerely,

—

Tom MacEwan
Chief Administrative Officer

cc: RebeccBaccardax, REMO

Page 15 of 77



162TUe 6WHPE@XUI+U (16X 62&..UcdX} e6\U X0606162eUbd2eb6X06TU 2
QOPVawhu\a

p

eedeedA@bU :++:+ 2 UiXoUed,eUi1627162e\Ue:U\ :eUe i2 6\U 2Ue ¢
(j2\0+Ues ++UUjeUXABBRE:UOXU

ceXjéejXoUi2iUaj2 &€ Ui+Uto\:jXxeod)
1621
WHR “ oUt(aiU\eiR% ka4
fy 1Uft6 :2i+U(16X 62&..Ual2i 61162 ed6igR\ :X... U
ey 1Ut6 :2i+U(16X 62&..Uai2i 6106 epbiR2 2 U
ey @6 :2i+U(16X 62¢..Uai2i 616221W:eXdXUeeXWai\UU1LI...U:
X6Wj X6TUI21UINNUIUUX:}6TU&...Ue 6UUIXe 06\aUe:UI\\ \eU
al2i 6162eUiX [2asie :2
fyU U 6 U 11 2 \eXie }6UIi~ e6XU:XUi6+06 [edUs e UTde \ :2U
X:1Uob6ié Ulj2 @ Ui+Uj2 eUUIXe...Ue:Ue \Ui X66162eU
oyU \\ \ei2eU(106Xab2leot8Pe: XT 2ie:XaU:26U 218 adB U
j2 eilXe..Ud:Xeo18a
y 201 e :2i+U1 2LjXU\lei U X:1U61e Ulj2 & Ui+Uj2 eUUI;
| X661062eU+ :UiIX6UIT6Wjled+...UeXi 267U 2Ue 6UI2¢& 102e
fee+6Ue:UI\\ \eUt(aiUfjX 2 Ui2Uieée }ie :2U: Ue 6U(16X 62
62eX6Uea...Ui\\j1 2 Ui2U1 <UX:+06U 2UeoWI( < B\eiXj@eyXeu
IX:+06\y

WRQ“:Ub62\jXoUf(aiU \UiToWjied+..UX0\:jXed6TU :XU(16X 62&..UUX

@::XT 2ie :2U: UX06\U:2\6Ui21UX06e:}06X...U: Ui2U0616X 62¢e..aU¢

X66162eU\ [++UUX:} 16Ue 6UX0\:jXed\UINUXOW] X61U 2U +1j

e:UUX:} 16Ue dUNXNO\ORX261U 2U&+ij\oUWRPaUXb6\j+te 2 Ue 86U 2

g¢e }o+..UUXO6UIX6UI21UXb6\U:27Ue:Ui2U0616X 62e&..Ui21U62

+Uaed6UX0 6XX6TUe:Ue 6UF6 :2i+U(16X 62e..Uai2i 6162el
Xie :2Ui270iUUR@&de:2BU: U\I

-

0
| +
2

— o

e
U
\ 16

by

(0]

Page 16 of 77



TTuU
WRRUOGU 06 U 11 2 \eXie }6Ui~ eé6X\U\ i++Ui7} \6Ue 06U 1} \:X..U :1
1j2 @ Ui+Uj2 e\U | +jX6Ue:U166eUe 6UXOW| X06162e\U: U +1j\
UpUe:2\ i6Xie :2UiU\iI2ée :2UUUjX\ji2eUe:U +ij\6UWRQaUe 6L
[}oUXd6 IXTU :Xa
IRe 80 X606Ue:Ues & UlUUIXe..U I\U | +61Ue:U1606eU e\U:ae+ |
@2 60U 2ed62e :2\U: Ue 6UUIXe..Ue:U1606eU e\U:a+ Ule 20121
e:UT:U\:
<i2ée :2\Ue leUe 6U 1} \:X..U :11 eedb6Uli..Ue&:2\ 10XU 2¢&+ji6
i UeX eef2UX0Wjd\leU X:1Ue 6UUIXe 6\U 1UIeediUe:Ue 6U:"
e feUe 6U1j2 & Ui+Uj2 eUUX:} 16Ue 6UXOW] X6TUXO\:jXeo\U
[UUX:lé Ue:UbB106X 62e..U1i21 6162eaU:XU
Ul:206eiX...U\i2¢e :2U\j & 62eUe:Ueé:1U02\iedUe 6UUIXe &
\j” @ 62eUXd\:jXe6\U 2UU+i22 2 U:XUXo6\U:2\6aUi\U\deU:jel

=]

162171

PPR ++UUiXe 60\Ué ROG®EURWLESG :2i+U(10X 02¢. adplbel:XaeU
iX [2 siel@UIUUX:}01Ue .. Vd+0HUMBEYIRWO1U+:...00U: Ue 6Uaj2 & U
"\eX éeU: U[j2062e&jX Ui2eddUaH+UIdX WX Ut (ailU

1621

QORUPU" dUUIXe 6\U\ i++U\ IX6Ue 6U&:\eU: U:UdXie :2\U: Ue 8U
j216TUe..Ue 6U1lj2 & Ui+Uj2 e\UI\U :++:+\4

aj2 & Ui+U"2 eU :2eX @&je :2qU \6UtiedUuQOtU: U jT 6eyUmUaj2
“:ef+U~2 :X1U \\6\\162eU: Ue 6U,iXe26XU~2 e\UUWOTU: U ji deyU
[\6Utie6UqUQOUZTU: U“:ei+Uf(ailU ji de

TU: U2 :X1U \\6\kd28021U:X1U \\6\\162eU: Ue 6Uaj2 & Ui+U"2 e\
aj2 & Ui+U"2 eU"~
1621

QOBOBU 1} \:X...U 11 eeoBalp\j+eie 20« e Udie ULlj2 & Ui+Uj2 el
X66108da+UX06e:110627UI2UiU6XIe 2 Ui2idiX® ©PIW el deb\i+0
L OIXUUX :XUe:Ue 6U+\ei+U...0IXU: Ue 6UX06&:116216TUejl 6eRU"

Page 17 of 77



fU ei+U jT 6eUs ++UxeoO6U\jee$6eeUe:Ue &UNOAINRRE UiHLIj21e2ULj1U:
e:2el 2 2 UisO¥ol\eBUe:ei+U"2 :X1U \\06\\162eU: Ue 6U1Lj2 & Ui+L

$162j126XUQOueyUi2iUuTyUI\UQORRUI2TUQORS

Page 18 of 77



UUOG2T e 162eU :11i27UceXjéejXod

UUuobd2T fldl26eiX...U<i2ee :2\

“OU :++4:¢ 2 Ul:206eiX...U\i2¢e :2\U\ i++U&x06Uj\d6TU&...Ue 6Uf(a U
XU [ +jX6U: UlUUIXe26XU1j2 € Ui+Uj2 eU 2UUX:} T 2 UX0d\:jXeod\
e \U X0606162eRUA4

PRO>I +jX6Ue:UiUU: 2eU\ei Ue:Ut(aiUl\UX0®OX0UIRUIGHIVOUWR
P60\ 2iedyaU (:PAPMJ2 & Ui+U\lei UaUe- e :jeUS$j\e xeie :2U\ie \ jee:
\ i++UX6\j+eU 2UiU1:26eiX...U\i2¢e :2U06Wji+Ue:a

U R ITQOUUOBXUUBX\:2UUBXU1:2e Ue feUiUj2 eU I\U+06\\Ue ic
e« e Ue 6U\i2¢e :2Ue:UxbUIUU+ 6TU&:1162¢ 2 Ue 6U1:2e U: Ue 68U
e:Ue 6U:7627T 2 U1lj2 & Ui+Uj2 eR

>j271\UX6e06 }6iUa..Ue 6Uf(a UlI\UIUXd6\j+eU: Ue 6\dU\I2&e :2\U\ |
@:2e 2 62é..Ujee:j2eR

QRO>I +jM6&:U062\jX6UIUU: 2eb6iU\ei Uieebd2iUt(aiUaXi 2 2 Ui27U:X
- e :jeUS$j\e tele :2U\ie \ iée:X..Ue:Ue 86Ut (a auUi2iUju:2U i} 2 U
X:1Ue 6Ut(a U: Ue 6U2:2fieed2ii2¢064

y UITQOUUGBXU 2\ei2e6U: U2:2fileed2ii2edUuUBXUUBX\:2U127U1
>j271\UX6ed }o6iUa..Ut(a UI\UIUX6\j+eU: Ue 6\6U\I2¢e :2\U\ [++U:
@:2e 2 62eé..Ujee:j2eR

RBO>[ +jX6Ue:U i}6U\ei Uieebd2iUe 6U( RUX @ JéDBjbe 4bde: 22
féeedUeliee+d6Ue:Ut(a a

y ITQOUUOGXU\el UUBXU\ eU1 \\oia

>j2T\UX6e06 }6TUee..Uf(a UI\UIUXb6\j+eU: Ue 6\6U\I2¢e :2\U\ i++U:
j2 e\Ue feU [fUe:Ux++Ue 6U [URUI U2:eUiUU+ eélee+6alUe 6U j21\U;
t(aiUé:2e 2 62¢&..Ulee:j2eR

Page 19 of 77



SRO <i2ée :2UXied\UiXdUe&i\diU:2UIUTI...UXIedUUBXU\eli RU* \UXI
@..U ,IUl\Ueéi+ej+iediU 2Ue 6UF:\eUaj2 &€ Ui+U"2 e\U,06X\:226+U,:

Page 20 of 77



AN INTER-MUNICIPAL EMERGENCY SERVICES AGREEMENT

. . : . |
THIS AGREEMENT is made in seven copies this| @day of January 2017.

AMONG:

The MUNICIPALITY OF THE District of Lunenburg, a municipal body corporate
pursuant to the Municipal Government Act;

_and-

The MUNICIPALITY OF THE District of Chester, a municipal body corporate
pursuant to the Municipal Government Act,;

_and -

The TOWN OF Bridgewater, a municipal body corporate pursuant to the Municipal
Government Act;

_and-

The TOWN OF Mahone Bay, a municipal body corporate pursuant to the Municipal
Government Act;

_and-

The TOWN OF Lunenburg, a municipal body corporate pursuant to the Municipal
Government Act.

WHEREAS 4 of the 5 the parties hereto previously entered into an inter-municipal emergency

services agreement, effective on August 1, 2005;

AND WHEREAS 4 of the 5 parties previously entered into a new inter-municipal emergency

services agreement effective on April 1, 2011;

AND WHEREAS all parties now wish to enter a new inter-municipal emergency services
agreement to be effective March 21, 2016.

NOW THEREFORE witness in consider of the mutual promises and covenants con\tamed herein

the parties hereto agree as follows:

(General

1. The Purpose of this inter-municipal services agreement, hereafter called (Agreement) is

ol



to provide for a coordinated response to an emergency occurring within Lunenburg
County, including the Municipality of the District of Lunenburg, the Municipality of the
District of Chester, the Town of Bridgewater, the Town of Mahone Bay, and the Town of
Lunenburg referred to in this Agreement as the (region).

2. This Agreement also provides for the parties to render mutual aid with respect to
personnel and equipment during an emergency.

3. This Agreement is to provide for the joint provision of services and facilities by the
municipal units in the region pursuant to Part III — 60 (1) of the Municipal Government
Act and section 10 (2) (c) of the Emergency Management Act.

4. The planning for and coordination of emergency service delivery during a real or imminent
emergency as defined by the Emergency Management Act, shall be provided by the
Regional Emergency Measures Organization, referred to in this Agreement as the
(REMO).

Host Municipality

5. The Municipality of the District of Lunenburg is hereafter called the Host Municipality,

and as such, will provide a communications room and the Regional Emergency
Operations Centers (REOC). The District of Chester shall also provide an EOC site for the

REMO.

6.  The Host Municipality will be responsible for all administrative functions including
financial, record keeping, minute taking and reporting on behalf of REMO during non-
emergency situations.

7. The Host Municipality will include the Regional Emergency Management Coordinator,
assets and activities on their Municipality’s liability insurance policy.

Structure

8. The REMO shall consist of a Regional Emergency Management Advisory Committee, a
Regional Emergency Management Planning Committee and the Regional Emergency
Management Coordinator and Assistant Emergency Management Coordinators from

each unit.

Regional Advisory Committee

9.  The Regional Emergency Management Advisory Committee shall be responsible for the
direction and management of emergency preparedness activities within the region and to
advise the appointing Councils pursuant to section 10 (1) (d) of the Emergency
Managements Act.

a. EBach party to this agreement shall appoint to the Regional Emergency
Management Advisory Committee two (2) members of its Council, one of

0.



whom shall be the Mayor or Warden. Each party shall further appoint an
alternate to act in the place of a member 1f absent.

. Members of the Regional Emergency Management Advisory Committee

are appointed for the same term of office as the Council that appoints them
and hold office until their successors are named. (subject to a. above)

In the event of a vacancy occurring, the Council that appointed the member
shall appoint a replacement within six weeks after the vacancy occurs.

The Regional Emergency Management Advisory Committee shall annually
name one of its members to be chair and one to be vice-chair, to act in the

absence of incapacity of the chair.

The chair or other person presiding shall vote on every question before the
Regional Emergency Management Advisory Commiuittee.

Quorum for the Regional Advisory Committee shall be 50% plus one.

The Chief Administrative Officers/Managers and the Assistant Emergency
Coordinators for each Municipal unit as well as the Regional Emergency
Management Coordinator shall be non-voting members of the Regional
Advisory Committee

Regional Planning Committee

10.

The Regional Emergency Management Planning Committee shall be responsible for
recommending policy and procedures to the Regional Emergency Management
Advisory Committee for maintaining a reasonable state of preparedness for emergencies
and shall consist of representatives of emergency services and other agencies which may
have direct operational responsibilities in an emergency.

a. Each party to this agreement shall appoint the respective Assistant Emergency
Management Coordinator, staff members, and where 1t 1s appropriate volunteer

agency representatives, to the Regional Emergency Management Planning
Commuittee.

The Regional Emergency Management Coordinator (REMC) shall chair the Reglonal

Emergency Management Planning Committee.

Regional Emergency Management Coordinator

11.

All parties agree that the Regional Emergency Management Coordinator shall be an
employee of the Municipality of the District of Lunenburg and shall serve as the staft
member of REMO. The Regional Emergency Management Coordinator (REMC) shall
be appointed by the Advisory Commiuttee to act as the REMC.

Should the position of the Regional Emergency Management Coordinator become

3-



vacant, 1t will be the responsibility of the CAO of the Municipality of the District of
Lunenburg to fill the vacancy in accordance with the hiring policies of the
Municipality of the District of Lunenburg. The selection committee shall consist of

the CAO’s of the participating municipalities.

Assistant Emergency Management Coordinators

12.

The parties agree that each Municipality shall appoint a staff member as an Assistant
Emergency Management Coordinator to act as a liaison with the REMC.

Emergency Operations

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

The REMO shall be the organization directly responsible for the control and conduct of
emergency response operations according to the plans and procedures adopted by the
parties from time to time. When the capacity of REMO is exceeded, or is likely to be
exceeded, REMO will activate support from other agencies in accordance with formal

or informal arrangements.

The REMO 1s authorized to operate, maintain and manage physical facilities for
emergency activities both at the scene of the emergency and at a centralized

coordination facility.

The host Municipality 1s empowered to acquire or contract for the use of equipment,
tacilities and personnel necessary or advisable to carry out the responsibilities assigned

to REMO by this Agreement.

The host Municipality may contract with any person or organization, including a
municipal unit and a municipal unit which is party to this agreement, for the provision
of any service of facility necessary or advisable to carry out the responsibilities

assigned to the REMO by this Agreement.

Any capital asset created or acquired by the REMO shall be owned jointly by the parties
in the proportion they contributed at the time of purchase except for assets contributed
solely by a particular municipality and those assets shall remain the property of that

municipality.

The REMO shall establish its own Concept of Operations to guide the Regional
Emergency Operations Center.

The parties recognize that an emergency may require the sharing or redeployment of
personnel and equipment in order to save lives or minimize damage to property or the
environment, and undertake to provide personnel and equipment as deemed appropriate
by the Regional Emergency Management Advisory Committee and recommended by
the Regional Emergency Management Planning Committee.

a. Any cost eligible for DFA funding and associated with the deployment of resources
of a responding municipality during a present of imminent emergency will be borne

by the requesting municipality.
4.



20.

21.

22.

b. Other extraordinary costs incurred in the provision or assistance of a municipality shall
be borne by the requesting Municipality. Extraordinary costs are defined as including,
but not limited to, costs that are above and beyond the usual day to day expenses,
including payment of overtime, payment of travel expenses (meals, accommodations
and mileage), repairs to equipment damaged while rendering aid and any other items
which would be mutually agreed to by the parties to this Agreement.

The parties shall share the cost of operations of the REMO based on an annual budget
divided proportionally based upon current uniform assessment.

a. The Advisory Committee shall recommend to the parties of this Agreement an
Operating and Capital Budget by February 1 of the fiscal year prior to the fiscal
year of the recommended budget. The approval of the Operating and Capital
Budget will be subject to the approval of a minimum of two municipal units

- containing at least 51% of the uniform assessment.

b. Actual dollar contribution of the Municipalities shall be based on the annual budget
of the REMO.

c. The host municipality will invoice the other contributing Municipality(s) for their
portion of the actual costs that are additional to their annual contribution. Billing
after year end to be adjusted to reflect actuals.

d. Inthe event the REMO requires additional money for capital or operating purposes,
any such increase shall be approved by the parties in accordance with clause 20(a).

The fiscal year of the REMO shall be from April 1 to March 31 of the following year.

This Agreement is conditional on the parties passing a complementary by-law respecting
the coordinated response to an emergency pursuant to the Emergency Management Act.

Termination of Agreement

23.

24.

25.

20.

This Agreement has effect commencing March 21, 2016, and replaces the former
Agreement which was effected on April 1, 2011.

This Agreement has effect from year to yéér until terminated by the agreement of all
parties.

This Agreement continues in force until notice of termination is given by the Council of
any party to the Councils of the other parties not less than one (1) year prior to the
intended termination date, which shall be the 31 day of March in a year to be specified

in the notice of termination.

Any party withdrawing from this Agreement remains responsible for its share of any
liabilities of the REMO incurred up to the date of the withdrawal and any severance,

5.



27.

penalty or other costs necessarily mcurred by the REMO as a result of the withdrawal.

Upon dissolution of the REMO by unanimous consent of the parties, the assets of the
REMO are vested in the parties and the parties are responsible for the liabilities of the
REMO i proportion fo the amounts contributed by the parties at that time. The Host
Municipality shall reimburse the other units based on an appraised value of the assets
multiplied by their percent contribution at the time of purchase. This excludes the assets
of the alternative EOC which the Municipality of the District of Chester shall reimburse
the other units based upon the appraisal of the assets multiplied by their percent
contribution at the time of purchase.

Indemmification

28.

Each party shall indemnify its representatives from any liability that may arise as a result

of that member acting as a member of the REMO.

Dispute Resolution

29.

30.

31.

If any dis agi‘eement arises among the parties as to the proper interpretation of this
agreement that cannot be resolved, the parties shall submit the area of disagreement to
an arbitrator as provided by the Arbitration Act.

The parties acknowledge and agree that all headings are inserted for convenience only
and do not form part of the agreement.

This Agreement 1s governed by the laws of Nova Scotia.




IN WITNESS WHEREOQOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by the hands of their
duly authorized officers and the affixing of their respective seals the day and year first above written (see 15).

DATED this 215 day of March, 2016 A.D.

SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED )
)

in the presence of?: )
THE MUNICIPALITY OF THE District of

Lunenb |
Per: oV ©@weryg 50T
Witness | ,

) - 4
) </ ‘ ’ %
) Pe N
) Municipal C ’-f
)
)
THE MUNICIPALITY OF THE District of
Chester
)
2 )
/ ) Perx
Per: g Ne ___,/ )
Witness )
)
} Pers
)
)
)
THE TOWN OF Bridgewadter

NEPIN|
) ,
) Per: ‘/ f
Fet: ) Mayor
itness )
)
) Per: M/am
) CAO ’
3
THE TOWN OF Mahone Bay
)
) .
) Per: % W
) 2p w7t 7Mayor
) Y%
) Pe ‘
) CAO
%
THE TOWN OF Lunenburg
) N\
) Q
Per: sk /%a,
Pery %w ; 3 : @{; LLA?
d Witness )
)
| , ) Per:
gl Laen clone > *0 [C are.
w.’+ﬁggg : l’<€“"\ J;ft“ N o i (0,0 ‘QQ/\ W-Q@/ZO[@ C(ﬂ_uﬂu_i_/

M elion



Council

Item #10.3.1

December 9, 2025
Authorization: T. MacEwan

Municipality of the District of Lunenburg

Report To: Mayor & Council

Submitted By: Councillor Oickle, Chair, Nominating Committee

Date: December 9, 2025

Re: Member at Large Appointment - Planning Advisory Committee

The Nominating Committee met on December 2, 2025, to review the re-appointment of Keith
Drysdale, who has re-offered to sit as a member at large on the Planning Advisory Committee for
a further two-year term.
The following motion is recommended by the committee:
“That the Nominating Committee recommends that Municipal Council re-appoint Mr. Keith
Drysdale to serve as a member-at-large on the Planning Advisory Committee with the term
ending in November 2027”.
Respectfully submitted,

Councillor Oickle, Chair
Nominating Committee

Page 28 of 77



Council

Item #10.4.1

December 9, 2025
Authorization: T. MacEwan

The Municipality of the District of Lunenburg
Request for Decision

Report to: Mayor Elspeth McLean-Wile and Council
Submitted by: Chris Kennedy, Fire Services Coordinator
Date: December 9, 2025

Re: FES Grant Increase Request

At the November 18, 2025 regular meeting, the Fire & Emergency Services Committee the
following recommendation was made to Municipal Council.

The recommendation to Council follows:
“That Municipal Council approve a 2% increase of $4,335 to the 2026/2027 annual grants
totalling $205,759.”

In previous years, the Committee has requested that Council approve a 2% increase of the grant
amounts. Should the Committee wish to request the same for the 2026-2027 fiscal year, the
following is a breakdown of the previous year’'s grant amounts with the proposed 2% increase
for 2026-2027. The total proposed grant amount is $205,759.00.

2025/2026 2% 2026/2027
Increase Proposed
Matching Grant $46,816 $ 936 $ 47,752
Municipal Grant $70,781 $1416 $ 72,197
Training Grant $12,038 $241 $ 12,279
Insurance Grant $59,751 $1195 $ 60,946
Personnel Insurance Grant $12,038 $ 241 $12,279
Tri-District Fire Rescue Merger Grant ~ $15,296 $ 306 $ 15,602
‘Report Preparation
Department Administration
Report Prepared by Chris Kennedy, Fire Services Coordinator

Report Approved by
Date Reviewed by C.A.O.

Page 29 of 77



Council

Item #10.4.2

December 9, 2025
Authorization: T. MacEwan

The Municipality of the District of Lunenburg
Request for Decision

Report to: Mayor Elspeth McLean-Wile & Municipal Councillors

Submitted by: Chris Kennedy, Fire Services Coordinator

Date: December 9, 2025

Re: Request for Decision on a Code of Conduct for Chief Fire Officers

The Fire & Emergency Services Committee (FESC) at their regular meeting on November 18,
2025 made the following recommendation to Municipal Council.

Recommendation

“That Municipal Council approve the approach for establishing a Code of Conduct for senior
fire services officers, and further that Municipal Council direct Staff to prepare amendments
to Policy 036 Fire & Emergency Service to include a chief officer code of conduct and
complaint process.”

Executive summary
N/A

Background

A code of conduct for chief officers of fire departments was discussed at the joint workshop of
the Luneburg Fire & Emergency Services (LRFES), and the FESC in July of 2025. Following this
workshop staff prepared a report outlining the discussion and seeking direction from the
committee on key points of a code of conduct and its implementation. The FESC reviewed the
report and provided direction on the chief elements of a code and means for dealing with such
breach. On September 4, 2025 the committee directed staff to present the draft proposal at a
Lunenburg Regional Fire Services meeting to solicit feedback from the fire service more broadly.

Page 30 of 77



December 9, 2025
Page2 of4

The presentation was made at the October meeting of the LRFES and the members present at
the meeting agreed that MODL should move forward with the code conduct for chief officers.

The remainder of this report outlines the elements of the proposed code and its
implementation. It is important to note that throughout the discussions it was stressed that the
code was being developed to add a level of accountability for senior offices and was not
intended to replace existing policies and resolution systems in place within departments for
member conduct. The new code is intended to address significant breaches which have the
potential to impact the fire service in the county more broadly; where possible, the internal
process for addressing disputes, conduct and inter-personal issue is all that is required.

Behaviours covered in the Code

x Participating in fire department training, meetings or response while under the influence
of drugs or alcohol.

Harassment/discrimination.

Fraud, theft & other criminal behaviours.

Professionalism at fire scene.

Conflicts of interest.

Social media use that impacts the reputation of the department.

Failure to report a violation of the code of conduct by a fellow senior official.

X X X X X X

Investigation of complaints

It was discussed to have a confidential reporting system in place and have a third-party
investigator available to determine if an investigation is warranted or not. Complaints can be
filed by a member of the fire department, member of the public or by the Municipality.

The filing of a complaint would trigger a 2-step process by an independent investigator. First, a
review to determine if the complaint falls within the code of conduct and if sufficient
information/cause to investigate. Id determined yes, notification would be provided to the
department, the Municipality and the investigator would proceed with an investigation. It was
agreed that the third-party investigator approach is the most appropriate.

Remedial action

If determined by the investigator that a breach had occurred, the report would go to an

advisory board made up of these members currently serving on the FESC. It was recommended
that the board be made up serving members of the FESC being appointed at AGM of the FESC.
The report should be presented in camera, to preserve privacy of individuals involved in the
complaint., to the extent possible under the confines of the Municipal government Act.

Members of the committee cannot be a member of the fire department(s) involved, a family

member or personally connected individuals involved in the complaint within the confines of
the Municipal Government Act.

Page 31 of 77



December 9, 2025
Page3 of4

The advisory panel makes a recommendation to council (Also in camera) on what remedial
action needs to take place. Input from the FESC and LRFES agreed with the following actions
which could be applied.

Training

Apology

Suspension from the executive of the fire department

Removal from the executive of the department

Removal from fire department depending on outcome and severity

X X X X X

Application and Enforcement

The decision of Council would be communicated in writing to the individual and to the
department. Confirmation of adherence to the remedial action would be communicated Fire
Service Coordinator. If remedial actions were not implemented, Staff recommend the
graduated compliance approach outlined in Policy 036 Fire & Emergency Services, as for
compliance with pump testing requirements

Discussion

NA
Strategic Focus
NA

Budget/Financial Implications

Once implemented, future municipal budgets would require funding for investigations, which
could range from several hundreds to several thousand dollars, depending on the complexity of
the instigation is not anticipated there will be a high volume of complaints to be investigated.

Climate Change/sustainability
NA

Inclusion, Diversity, Equity and Accessibility (IDEA@MODL)

The code will help address serious instances where leadership has not met a minimum
standard, which will help make a more inclusive fire service, using an impatrtial third-party
review helps limit implicit bias and is therefore a more equitable approach.

Strategic Communications

The Fire Service is critical to quality of life, not only providing a valuable protective service but
by serving as a valuable community network connecting our residents.

Page 32 of 77



December 9, 2025
Page4 of4

Work plan
NA

Alternatives
NA

Conclusion

Recent events in the province have underscored the need for increased accountability
especially those in senior officer positions in the fire service. The concepts outlined here in
provide a means for serious concerns to be addressed.

Department Administration
Report Prepared by Chris Kennedy
Report Approved by

Date Reviewed by C.A.O.

Page 33 of 77



Council

Item #11.1.1

December 9, 2025
Authorization: T. MacEwan

Municipality of the District of Lunenburg
Request for Decision

Report To: Councill

Submitted By: Alex Dumaresq, Deputy CAO

Date: December 9, 2025

Re: Draft Revised Strategic Priorities for 2026/27

Proposed Motions
Move that Council adopt the strategic priorities as presented.

Executive summary

In preparation for the 2026-27 budget deliberations, Council can revise its established strategic
priorities to guide the municipality’s work. Informed by the previous year’s work establishing
key areas for the term, staff have prepared this draft report updating the priorities for Council’s
consideration. If adopted, these priorities would form the template for the budget work of the
municipality and act as a decision-making guide through the year.

Background

The primary responsibility of a Council is to provide good government for their communities;
the Municipal Government Act provides very broad authorities for Council to govern in a way
that responds to the present and future issues facing the municipality. Given the wide range of
possible authorities and initiatives Council could undertake, it is imperative that Councils adopt
high level strategic documents guiding their decision-making and give clear direction to staff.

Existing Vision
Before embarking on the comprehensive land-use planning project (MODL 2040), Municipal
Council undertook a visioning exercise and subsequently adopted the following statements:

Page 34 of 77



December 9, 2025
Page2 of 5

Vision

The breathtaking, natural beauty of the Municipality of the District of Lunenburg is home to
thriving communities with unique cultural identities. Growth centres support our diversified
economies, driven by our residents’ passion for the place they call home.

With our strong economy, we can live, work and raise families here. We are a destination for
visitors, attracted to our vibrant parks, beaches, and hiking trails. As leaders in sustainability,
we passionately protect our natural environment.

Mission
We are:
X Responsible financial managers
x Strategic planners
X Sustainable community builders
x Collaborative engagers
X Values
Values
X Thriving Communities: We encourage meaningful connections.
x Act with Integrity: We are accountable and strive to provide exceptional leadership
within our municipality.
X Respect and Kindness: We value the uniqueness and diversity of our communities,
welcoming everyone with respect and kindness.
X Equity and Inclusion: We take action to change and grow to be a truly diverse, equitable,
and inclusive municipality.
X Ready for Action!: We are innovators, economic leaders, and collaborative partners.

Within these high-level strategic statements, Council also regularly reviews and adopts strategic
priorities, establishing project areas for the short and medium term which they have
determined will have the best impact for achieving the vision for the municipality.

Following the 2024 municipal elections, Council undertook a strategic visioning exercise which
included Council workshops, public engagement and supporting staff reports. Coming out of
that process Council established five priority areas and a list of prioritized projects issues and
initiatives to address during the first years of the term.

Council’s Strategic Vision

Page 35 of 77



December 9, 2025
Page3 of 5

Preparing draft priority areas for 2026

In December of 2025, Council met with a facilitator to review the develop key themes and high-
level priorities with Council, while reflecting on the first year of progress at the Council table.
Based on this discussion, staff recommend some revision and increased precision in the
statements. A revised draft is included here.

Regional Economic Development

X Support initiatives that focus on regional economic development
x Advocate for a strong economic environment, including reliable cell service

Infrastructure Upgrades, Expansion, and Management

x Collaborate regionally to expand infrastructure that supports growth
X Strategic investment in recreational assets

Quiality of Life

X Adopt a community development model to uplift grassroots work that address
loneliness, affordability, and social inclusion

Communication and Engagement

x Build a strong community fabric through increased public communication and
engagement

Climate Change Action
X Work to reduce municipal greenhouse gas emissions
X Support community efforts to adapt to a changing climate and improve efficiency and
affordability

The key changes include streamlining and focusing the language to address the central concept
of each area, and revising the statements relating to climate change ensuring that affordability
and energy efficiency is clearly emphasized. The quality of life statement was also revised to
incorporate a community development approach to achieving greater social inclusion.

Discussion

The concept of community development is a longstanding philosophy that citizen participation
generates positive change in their own communities. For the purposes of the District of
Lunenburg, community development can be understood as the municipality supporting groups
of people in growing their skills and resources so they can make changes within their
communities.

Adopting a community development model has huge potential for catalyzing growth and
services in community, for community, and by community. The change in mindset will guide

Page 36 of 77



December 9, 2025
Paged of 5

how Council assesses municipal role in new initiatives and issues and it will inform how
departments and staff collaborate and respond to community needs. A successful community
development model for municipal government requires strong volunteer organizations; it will
necessarily drive Council to take bold action to sustain and invigorate a healthy volunteer
sector.

Some benefits connected with adopting a community development approach is that there is
increased potential for citizen direction of government. Community development creates more
opportunities for people will see themselves reflected in, and connected to, their municipal
government. It will also create more opportunity for more social inclusion and to foster a
stronger community fabric. In addition, if successful, strong community involvement can lead
to Council being more effective in serving the most pressing needs of our communities.

There are some points of caution for consideration.

x Equity is a concern; Some communities have existing structures and fabric or may have
income or education advantages that will make it easier for them to access municipal
resources. The Municipality must be mindful of ensuring equitable access to municipal
support.

x The Municipality has core services and responsibilities to take care of basic resident
needs which should not be abandoned to community to fulfill.

X The volunteer sector is overburdened, aging and transforming, MODL must find ways to
build and enhance, not overburden existing volunteer groups.

x Finally, regardless of the approach taken, Council must retain responsibility having a
vision for the future and anticipating and responding to future issues.

Shifting to a community development model could present significant effort and change for the
Municipality. Some key steps in pursuing this change include:

Iterative options research with Council supported by staff;

Create key definitions and measurement;

Identify organizational impacts on the Municipality;

Develop a plan to support and enhance the volunteer sector in the face of demographic
changes;

Identify municipal actions and budgets;

x Adopt change management principles for Council and staff; and

x Communication of vision and approach to staff and communities.

X X X X

Page 37 of 77



December 9, 2025
Page5 of 5

Budget Implications
The intention of the strategic priorities is to drive the creation and approval of the 2026-27
budget.

Alternatives

Council retains authority to retain the existing areas and statements as stated or embark on a
more extensive long-range strategic planning process. If a more detailed long-range planning
process is undertaken, some form of direction to staff is required to inform the preparation of

draft budget plans.

Conclusion

Establishing strategic priorities is an important governance exercise. Council has identified five
areas of focus, namely regional economic development, infrastructure, quality of life, climate
change, and public engagement. The priorities adopted by Council will provide helpful
evaluative criteria as Council works through policy and governance questions. These priorities
will also be critical in guiding staff in preparing budget materials for the 2026-27 fiscal year.

Department Administration Department
Report Prepared by Alex Dumaresq

Report Approved by

Date Reviewed by C.A.O.

Page 38 of 77



[t}JEI] AlSZ %o ESVAPe.YE GE}pPS SE ve]s Jv §Z [|*3E] 3
|’ dE ve]5 A oalfi LC(E“VS]‘;F]’ é}EE“%°G]E°33]CE K Wo vv[vP 1ifo Y
{> pv Z « EA] v 1i10
{ WE % & E (S Z}ue]vP «SE S PC (}E& }uv ]9 }ve] |E S]}tv
1 JUe]vP "SE B{PQuU% 0 S %ou o] VvP P uvs }v }vsS vs }( ujv 7i1p Yo
{(~E}% r Ju%o u v3 §]}v AYEI (JE & (( v = <p]éﬁ’>‘(’ V(‘§ VCEEJ }%0 31}
. Juupv]SC ,u [Iv A 0}%u vd8 “u v P uvs }( Juupv]3C «% P E YV | (0}]C an e
! Ke% @& C s]ojad BPoS] pljo JvP A Z}ﬁhj% HIO v
. . {(WHE-p Juu ] 3 Née%JBEE SHwWS A}E|
5 S 0]-z &}CEu { Ju%oo § i}]vS *Su C }v BE®WW SPE }( %0 A K 1116 Vi
bviul 2 PI1Iv o e pee]}V JV E +pode }( E %)} ES o vl
Wo S(}Eu-
{-Dv § C 3Z WGELBAJYU¥EEZ ve]A Dpv] 1% jo Wo v)]vP
A |BESPC v >virpe Co A (JE 3z VS]E | 1% 0] CKKU
A }”%°(EWZ velA Ff}\’/ W & EIP}E}Ipus %op 0] VP P u v§ Wo vv]vRi]vU|iite Yi
O VVIVE 11V Jo V%}( DWAI>h Juue
{ "u uld 8} ulv]es & (}JE& (]Jvo E A] A
5 JUUNV]EC [{K%ve E %)ES &) }uv Jo }v Z}A &} u uupvipc, A )2%0]'I}IIV§TI]TVO§}YI
A 0}%u vSluuv] ]% o ]*1}vru IJvP v }% & S]}ve A X
3 A e A vwvu Al3z A} C BOPVALDEN T D]v]es E E <] AU ... .
° oo " EA] {/’}}u%odm}dié ~ U%o0](C EA&D A} C lv §Z % yuye |1110Y3

Page 39 of 77

0

Ve



R “ N x AE/B A e }( $Z s}opvsS E epuu]sS v Huupv]Sg P YSeV. ., .
0| stouvs & S) vA -s Ig)}“ééls%o%oCE} Z » S} (}*S E epeS]v o V%PE}A]VPuﬁV}cpblsoélo
sl €IS &l (& AE SR B} ES WEIADE PHR%]0 }v A 0}%]VvP L5 €] [O3F& 1 sl¥P 5
Z & S]}v JVA pBuUEV%e}e JVA eSu vSe Jv Z & S]J}v e SeX
iif D} Jo s/ A ol{HAJwWA E %}ES 8} }uv Jo }v §Z u} Jo s/ « EAL TitTA Yo
ol &1E 7 EA] MHEBow]WE A 0}%u vs v Juvol( VESE 3 PC 3} v 8':]v. TR Y
ANSE 3 PC |SE Jv]vP (}JE& §Z Alopvd E (]E -+ EA]

. }uv 1o }v. "h %}o] ]« " SZ ]JE Ju%o SV |}%S]}vl (JE& E p JVvP Z

i1 VPWC;EO}]“C \é ;] éz éA & Jv }ulZ o08Z }u%o] S]}veV Wo vv]vP Tito Y
% 3]}ve (JE Ju%e EYAIVP ((] 1V C }(8Z % E} 9
VOoCele }( {068 + E %} ES A %0}E]VP }*3 }ju% E]+}vU VA|JE}lvu {3 HE Ju.elU v
"t e85 A & & "Cd3eup » A]SZ *u 00 VEE 0]i +Ce5 us AeX }ve]s A ‘-’E A 3 &Oj‘s‘}a‘é su' Ve !
&]E '}A Ev v N A \ y y
. < 00 ]* Heel}v A]SZ &]E <« EA] }Vv %o %o E Y %o S| «C-S . .
g /vl ovs v pu éE%" § 10]3C (JE %3X }((] +Uuu E-U EJpA @1’ o vi
JUvVsS G
T h% § d Wol|yZ(WBES 8} }uv ]o spHUULE]+FMWIB 3% XE « d %0 Vv 7 Y IRZ
Juv Jo }ve] GE{K¥Bwe (}E % E} JvP AJ&¥Zv]u% 0 u V3§

N K% v %o Ng S.P N « o AO A X « Ax AN ~
e A op &]}v CF,]‘S}&Q V YIA pUSZ K% Vv %o SE S PC Z K 1110 Yi

Page 40 of 77



{WE} pE&E %0 %0 A 0}% &
4 Duv] 1% o %dB v P A 0}%u v3 V}YVAIBEEA -]3 yuue |z
A 0}%u VS[{dE ]Jv 3 + }v pe
{WE}lu} %0 v (}E o pv Z 7 pe
. - é (é %}ES 8§} }pv ]Jolv o u vsSe }( %M O] § %o }o] aa s
' € Wi o] &S ° 0} Jo 0] & §]}v V %% E}A o }( %}o] C PTA Ev vP'?qu o']”oszéI
. ooo}YEv IHE Jv E ¥VvP( &E ~u ES % E}PE|u Jv }HEKU o a
iq Zz p tlo (]&E %fuuv]s] u]]v 7 DK 1110 YO
~ rW Eu]SS]vP ({{®Wu@EoZ]vRJ Jved 00 Vv 0 EVy®&uU V}® 0¥d %@ VP ., ]°° PulvU|....
' N EA] . H]o JVP % Eu]se 0bl‘]/j\éalz]}lvv i ve
[ d £ WIES|WHUE Z » U Jved 00 V 0 UV Z }vo]v %}ES &8} [&]vev3|£E£ uldvs MO Eu
1 % A]ZA ICE&]“]." %2 %FEs 5} Juvjolv EJulvo & JE Z I ( - ujv
- &]E ~ EA] 'H{ A op 5V} V% 3} % E}A] %o %o E} 0 E] & .E § £ P}ﬁu]q/iv vV ou ZT\HE,)UY]I,V
KlovIio Eq%o (J& o E&o v
tjJoo ]Jv op uvU
. . <. . ]* meel}v  }ud Yuupv]S3C A 0}%u vs (} peU .
e E vse 2 Al %WCE { A 0}%u v§ Z}us]vP PE vsU u & E&] - PIE vsu |WOREIVEN Yl
*U% %} ESU v  Juupv]SC "pesS ]Jv ]Jo]SC PE vSe
il A Vv]}E A ( SC |A% vellv { > E P]}v o ] pee]}v iv A% v JVP|S§Z + EA]

Page 41 of 77

&lv v

1(]



Page 42 of 77

{ oo ME ]e pee]}v A]3Z 3Z &]EV}v AP %v Jo} § SA}E]

[Xe EC ,C E 3¢ EC ZC E vSs- ulv Wo v({]vP 1T1ii0 Y
{ £%0}&EV}%F A% v v SA}IEI

IVA «8]P & % |EEv E+Z]%
idq }v. Z P]l}v o /v {dvS@&g] o ]Jv dKZ }( $Z @'D }uu] K A El
W EI
oo § AJS3Z "JUNZUOZU@E DY) Jupv] M 8]
i >}W°CE/E‘”]CF;GEZé}|°oo%o}CEs 57 SSE 3]}v Ivd PE 3]}v v & § v3]}v }AV|A }u @-BVS} 52
sV El§ v &} E l}luupv]ic

] Spv v uEP JUud}MeS]}ve E %}ES }v Z}A §} E *» 0V UV P ulviISE|-3KIEP[}A VAR,

' > VAR) u} o U]SV %0 O VV\@}‘P‘O\SMGE z

o 1o peellv @ W Z/PIE N }( }v %S 8} }pv Joe 2a

M @]E dE [v]vR{&PJ0]&CP]}v 0 ] pee]lve }v Ju%lv vse = ( ] 1418d" lito Y3

ES vellv }( [{B)@EI0A1SZ 52 S}AX QWP RE}ASZ E - AU
il ~ ®A] * "WEEJMS]VP]}Vv }( uv EPE}uv » EA] + 5} %YBU]S Z|PK Vv1]3$EXE4Hl w
D Z}v C A 0}%u v3§ V]vP

n A op 3]1}v }( 8§42 }ve] & - 00]vP }E & u}A (E}u % E]}E]SC 0]3U o0; « MVelypv3]o 1170

I - {Z %} ES &} }uv Jo }v §Z Z]*3}ECU LEE v§ o |- é/?Em‘?‘uP]‘-’- #-“si‘m v
E 0 §]}veZ]% AJE8Z Z « EA -« v

{ Aofyv v Y }JE Jeules 0 }( 0 AC }v E}}lu 3 e 3} (v uByU(E] U

. ]v]%]ﬁ, A Z &IV v RiE ¢

« « « < ujvu
. B} ES }pSo]v]vP v .8« }( v +}ES E «pl]E
! SWPCLHOSUE %}o] CV Juv Jo  J+1}v Iv AZ §Z E EF %opdfO VV|ERELE 2

o JuE

(7514

—e
—~



o ol o se 8§ P %o V U %% ]VP }( G}} %0 Jve < A+ .
' &o}} %o IV D PetolVPo 1AV ] 0 & <u]E u v+ Eluv (0}} %o [V @Y Papvf  EWSHGE 2
[Ke IP Co A [{}Ju%o0 3 v YAvow u% 3 }(3Z }P Co A ulv &USUE ¢ E-

{ Ju%o 8 v A op 8]}v VvV u% 3 }(3$Z W E-}vy o W}o|] C
id W Ee}jvv 0 WId[Z UBAA]%E} HE 0 |§ usV ,Z ulv | Tito Yi

{, @u}v]l A]8Z Z vP « 3} % E}A]Jv ] o o PJeo 8]fv "~ D:1 % EEV E-

Page 43 of 77



Council

Item #11.1.3

December 7, 2025
Authorization: T. MacEwan

The Municipality of the District of Lunenburg

Report

Report To: Municipal Council

Submitted By: April Whynot-Lohnes, Municipal Clerk
Date: December 9, 2025

Re: Proposed Amendments to Policy 058 Fees

Municipal Council, in session on November 25, 2025, reviewed the proposed amendments to
Policy 058 Fees and gave notice of its consideration for approval at the December 9, 2025
Council meeting.

The proposed amendment is to add the Potable Well Financing Lending Fee.

Section 48(1) of the Municipal Government Act states, “Before a policy is passeddedor
repealed, the Council shall give at least seven days’ notice to all council members.” Therefore,
in accordance with Section 48(1), the amended Policy 058 Fees will be presented for Council’s
approval at the December 9, 2025, Council session. The November 25, 2025 Council meeting
was considered as Council’s notice.

If Council approves of the proposed Policy amendment, the following motion would be
necessary.

“that Municipal Council approve the proposed amendments to MODL Policy 058 Fees as
presented”.

Report Preparation

Department Administration

Report Prepared by April Whynot-Lohnes, Municipal Clerk
Report Approved by

Date Reviewed by C.A.O.

Page 44 of 77



Municipality of the District of Lunenburg

Policy Details

Name Fees Policy
Number 058

Legislative Authority Municipal Government Act, subsections 48(3),
132(2), 150(2), 206(4), clauses 49(1)(c), 211(1)(b),
and subclause 172(2)(e)(i),

Private Roads By-law, Section 12

Effective Date December 9, 2025

Title
1 This Policy is titled the Fees Policy.

Administration
2 This Policy must be referenced in related By-laws concerning the service identified.

Purpose
3 The Municipality must provide clarity to citizens as to the various fees it charges on
the various government services.

Fees

4 (1) The fees for Planning and Development Services are as set out in Table 1.
(2) The fees for Recreation Services are as set out in Table 2.
(3) The fees for Administration and Finance Services are as set out in Table 3.
(4)  The fees for Engineering Services are as set out in Table 4.

Exempted Organizations

5 Active non-profit organizations registered under Becieties Acare exempt from
paying those fees identified under subsection 4(1) of this Policy, with the exception of
the Private Road Maintenance & Improvement Administration Fee Rate.

Page 45 of 77



MODL Policy 058
Page2 of 4

Table 1 Planning and Development Services Fees

Services

Fees

Amendments to a Planning Strategy or a Land
Use By-law

$525.00 + advertising fee

Development Agreement

$525.00 + advertising fee

Development Permit $26.00
Fire Inspection $210.00
Map Book $25.00

Map Reproduction

$11.00 + $0.55 per square feet

Planning documents

$11.00

Private Road Maintenance & Improvement
Administration Fee Rate

5% of the total expenditures in the
annual private road budget

Property Record Certificate $58.00
Subdivision, Final Plan (+ each lot after 2 lots) | $105.00 +$26.00
Variance $79.00
Zoning Certificate $53.00

*Building Permit Fee — all types of construction

$0.72 / $1000 construction value + $30
administration fee

*Building Permit Renewal Fee

$30.00 administration fee

*Demolition Permit

$22.00

*Temporary Structures

$30.00 administration fee

*Temporary Change of Use

$30.00 administration fee

*Non -Profit Organizations

$30.00 administration fee

*Additional Fee that applies to all construction | $55.00
commenced without a Building Permit
*effective date — January 1, 2026
Table 2 Recreation Services Fees
Services Fees
Ballfields $21.00 per hour + HST

Ballfield League

$19.00 per hour + HST (if paid by May

One-day ballfield tournament

$135 per field per day + HST

Two-day ballfield tournament

$115 per field per day + HST

Charitable cause one-day ballfield tournament

$65 per field per day +HST

Charitable cause two-day ballfield tournament

$60 per field per day + HST

Minor Sport ballfield rentals (18 & under)

Free of charge

Sawpit Floating Docks

$125.00/season + HST

1)

A “charitable cause” refers to either a charitable or non-profit organization, or to individuals

who have experienced recent hardship.

Page 46 of 77



MODL Policy 058
Page3 of 4

Table 3 Administration and Finance Services Fees

Services Fees

Dog Tag - Replacement $1.00

NSF Cheques $15.00

Tax Certificate $42.00

Tax Sale Administration Fee $160.00
Verbal Tax Information $11.00
Potable Water Supply Upgrading Administration Fee $250:00
Clean Energy Financing Administration Fee $250.00
Credit Card Processing Fee 2%

*Potable Well Financing Lending Fee 2%

Table 4 Engineering Services Fees

Services Fees
Electric Vehicle Charging Station $1.50 per hour
Sewer Permit $120.00

Policy Adoption

Date of Original Passage January 11, 2011

Date of Notice of Intent to Amend November 25, 2025
Date of Council Approval

| certify that this Policy 058 Fees was amended by Municipal Council as indicated above.

Signature of Municipal Clerk Date

Version Amendment Description Approval Date

Original V1 Policy 058 fees January 11, 2011

V2 Fees for development related applications — May 10, 2011
planning areas

V3 Allows for all fees, except those included in oth: February 12, 2019
by-laws in one policy, and fee increases
Effective date for V3 April 1, 2019

V4 Clarity that the 5% administrative fee for Private Rt February 25, 2020

Maintenance & Improvement Charge is not exempti

Page 47 of 77



MODL Policy 058

Paged of 4

V5 Housekeeping, addition of fee for Electric Vehicl&eptember 14, 2021
Charger Charging Station

V6 Remove MARC housings, and fax/photocopyin February 8, 2022
fees from tables
Effective date of V6 April 1, 2022

V7 Add Sawpit Floating Dock fees to Table 2, January 10, 2023
Recreation

V8 Add Potable Water Supply Upgrade and Clean July 25, 2023
Energy Financing administration fees to Table 3.

V9 Add new ballfield fees to Table 2 and defined March 26, 2024
“charitable cause”; amend EV charging station
to $1.50.
Annual Review by Council - Re-adopted February 25, 2025

V10 Add credit card fee processing fee, effective
immediately. Add Building related fees with an July 22, 2025
effective date of January 1, 2026 and new cred
card processing fee

V11 Add potable well financing lending rate to Table 3 December 9, 2025

Page 48 of 77



Council

ltem #11.1.4

December 9, 2025
Authorization: T. MacEwan

The Municipality of the District of Lunenburg
Report to Council

Report to: Mayor and Council

Submitted by: April Whynot-Lohnes, Municipal Clerk

Date: December 9, 2025

Re: Second Reading — By-law 047A Amendments to the Potable Water

Supply Upgrade Lending Program

Recommendation

“That Municipal Council conducts Second Reading and approve By-law 047A a By-law
amending the Potable Water Supply Upgrade Lending Program, as presented.”

Executive summary

On November 25, 2025, Council conducted First Reading of the proposed amendments to By-
law 047, Potable Water Supply Upgrade Lending Program and gave notice of its intention to
adopt on December 9, 2025.

Notice was given through social media and the municipal website that Municipal Council would
be conducting Second Reading to adopt the proposed amendments December 9, 2025. If
adopted, the amendments would establish a 5-year repayment term for newly executed
agreements, including a hardship clause and definition and remove stacking provisions with
Clean Energy Financing and align with By-law 031.

The attached By-law 047A Amendments to the Potable Water Upgrade Lending Program
outlines the amendments and if Council wishes to adopt the amendments and conduct Second
Reading the attached motion is required.

Page 49 of 77



December 9, 2025
Page2 of 2

Department Administration

Report Prepared by April Whynot-Lohnes

Report Approved by
Date Reviewed by C.A.O.

Page 50 of 77



Municipality of the District of Lunenburg

Amending By-law Details

Name Amendments to Potable Water Supply Upgrade Lending
Program
Number 047A

Legislative Authority Municipal Government Act, s. 81A(1)(c)
Effective Date

Be it enactedby the Council of the Municipality of the District of Lunenburg, under the
authority of the Municipal Government Act, as follows:

1
2.

Page 51 of 77

This By-law is titled ‘Amendments to Potable Water Supply Upgrade Lending program’.

s 3(c) delete the definitionClean Energy Upgradeeans the same as defined in MODL
By-law 031 Clean Energy Financing.” and renumber definitions forward.

s. 3(k) add new definitiotHardship Criteriameans the income thresholds for eligibility
under MODL Policy 049 Property Tax Rebate, as approved or amended by Council from
time to time as part of the annual budget deliberations. For the purposes of this By-law,

a Qualifying Property Owner who meets those income thresholds in the year of
application will be considered to meet the Hardship Criteria for this Program.”

s.3(l) add new definitionHardship Extensiomeans a repayment term of ten (10) years
for a Water Supply Upgrade Loan, approved in accordance with section 4(g)(i).”

Amend s. 4b (i) by adding after the word “have” in the first sentence “any other
municipal financing that is active on the property” and delete the phrase “a loan with
the municipality for any other program” in the same sentence.

Delete s.4(g) and replace with new section 4(g) “For Financing Agreements entered into
on or after December 9, 2025, the Qualifying Property Owner will make equal payments
of the principal over a standard repayment term of five (5) years to repay the
outstanding Water Supply Upgrade Loan, on which interest will be payable as set out in
the Financing Agreement.

(i) For Financing Agreements entered into on or after December 9, 2025, where the
Qualifying Property Owner meets the Hardship Criteria, the Director of Finance

may approve a Hardship Extension so that the repayment term is extended to

a repayment term of ten (10) years, with equal payments of principal over that term. In
determining eligibility, the Director of Finance may require the Qualifying Property
Owner to provide the same type of income documentation as required under MODL



Amendments to Potable Water Supply Upgrade Lending Program
By-law 047A
Page2 of 2

Policy 049 Property Tax Rebate, or such other reasonable documentation as the Director
of Finance may request.
(i) Financing Agreements entered into before December 9, 2025, remain subject to the
repayment term set out in the applicable Financing Agreement that was in effect at the
time that agreement was signed.”

7. Delete s. 5(a), (b) and (c) and renumber sections 6 and 7 accordingly

8. Delete former s. 7(b) now 6(b) and replace with the following, “Interest is payable on

the amount of the Water Supply Upgrade Loan deemed outstanding at the rate set out
in Policy 058 Fees, as amended from time to time.”

By-law Adoption

Date of first reading of amending by-law November 25, 2025

Date of advertisement of notice of intent to consider Nov. 25, 2025, Dec. 03, 2025
Date of second reading of amending by-law December 09, 2025

Date of advertisement of passage of amending by-law [Date Notice appears in
Effective date of the by-law. paper.]

Date of mailing a certified copy of amending by-law to [Date of letter]

Minister

| certify that this “Amending By-law 047A Potable Water Supply Upgrade Lending program”
was adopted by Municipal Council and published as indicated above.

Signature of Municipal Clerk Date

Page 52 of 77



Municipality of the District of Lunenburg

By-law Details

Name Potable Water Supply Upgrade Lending Program
Number 047
Legislative Authority Municipal Government ActSection 81A(1)(c)
Effective Date July 19, 2023

Title

1 This By-law is titled the Potable Water Supply Upgrade Lending Program By-law.

General

2 (1) Sections 81A(1)(c) of thdunicipal Government Acpermits the Municipality of
the District of Lunenburg to provide financing to eligible property owners for improving
the supply of potable water to properties within the Municipality.

(2) Council recognizes that southwest Nova Scotia has a high rate of shallow wells and
that the impacts of human-caused climate change have resulted in longer and more
pronounced dry periods, which has a greater impact on homes with shallow wells.

(3) To help address this issue, council hereby enacts the Potable Water Supply
Upgrade Lending Program By-law, to facilitate the upgrade of potable water supply
systems in residences in the Municipality.

Definitions

3 (1) In this By-law,

(@) CAOmeans the Chief Administrative Officer for the Municipality, or their
designate.

(b) Contractormeans an insured person or corporation licensed by the Department of
Environment and retained by the Qualifying Property Owner to complete the
Water Supply Upgrade.

(c) Director of Financaneans the Director of Finance & Treasurer for the
Municipality, or their designate.

(d) Financing Agreementneans a written, signed agreement between the owner of a
Qualifying Property and the Municipality for financing of a Water Supply Upgrade.

Page 53 of 77



By-law 047 Water Supply Upgrade Lending Program

Page2 of 6

(e)

(f)

()

(h)

(i)

@)

(k)

0

Maximum Eligible Amountmeans the maximum amount that the Municipality will
lend to a Qualifying Property Owner for a Water Supply Upgrade which is set at
the lesser of $20,000 or 15% of the total assessed value of the Qualifying Property.

Municipality means the Municipality of the District of Lunenburg, and includes its
employees, agents, or designated third party contractor.

Qualifying Propertymeans an existing, owner-occupied single unit or two-unit
residential property, or a building owned by not-for-profit organization, located
within the Municipality that meets the eligibility criteria for participation in the
Water Supply Upgrade Lending Program. Multi-unit residential buildings with more
that two units, new construction, and business/industrial premisesnatesligible

for this Program.

Qualifying Property Ownemeans the individual, individuals, or entity in
possession of the title for the Qualifying Property. The Qualifying Property Owner
may also be the person responsible for paying taxes in relation to the Qualifying
Property.

Water Supply Upgradeneans the installation and/or construction of equipment

or systems to improve the supply of potable water to the property including: the
digging of a new well, installation of rainwater collection and/or storage systems
and equipment (e.g. cisterns); installation of a well pump, water line, and/or
electrical connection to support the function of a water system; or other systems
and equipment designed to improve the supply, use, and conservation of potable
water.

Water Supply Upgrade Loameans the local improvement charge levied on the
Qualifying Property pursuant to section 81A of Manicipal Government Act

Hardship Criteriameans the local improvement charge levied on the Qualifying
Property pursuant to section 81A of tiMunicipal Government Act

Hardship Extensiomeans a repayment term of ten (10) years for a Water Supply
Upgrade Loan, approved in accordance with section 4(7)(a).

Administration

4

Page 54 of 77

(1)

A Property Owner may apply to the Municipality for financing of a Water Supply

Upgrade to a Qualifying Property within the Municipality.

(2)

Lending will be subject to the approval and agreement in writing of the Director of

Finance on behalf of the Municipality, which will be subject to the execution of a
Financing Agreement and the following conditions:



By-law 047 Water Supply Upgrade Lending Program
Page3 of 6

(@) The Qualifying Property Owner is not in default of any municipal taxes, rates or
charges;

(b) The property currently does not have any other municipal financing that is active
on the property (e.g. Clean Energy Financing, LaHave program septic system);

(c) the proposed Water Supply Upgrade must follow applicable provincial and/or
federal regulations;

(d) the proposed Contractor must have a valid Department of Environment license to
carry out a Water Supply Upgrade as applicable;

(e) compliance with other conditions as shown in the Financing Agreement; and

() a signed statement by the Qualifying Property Owner outlining the Qualifying
Property’s potable water issues, that the Water Supply Upgrade is necessary.

(3) The Water Supply Upgrade Loan may consist of:

(@) The cost of the Water Supply Upgrade and all associated labour costs, permit fees,
and applicable taxes;

(b) interest charges, including any additional interest arising due to any default of
payment; and

(c) an administrative fee as set by council to cover costs of administering the
program.

(4) The Water Supply Upgrade Loan is provided for the benefit of the Qualifying
Property Owner in the form of the Municipality paying all eligible Contractor invoices for
the completed work up to the Maximum Eligible Amount. The Qualifying Property
Owner will sign the Contractor’s invoices and submit them to the Municipality for
payment. As the Municipality pays the Water Supply Upgrade invoices, the resulting
loan amount advanced to date is a lien against the Qualifying Property.

(5) Interest will begin accruing on any approved Water Supply Upgrade invoice paid by
the Municipality thirty (30) days from the date that the Municipality paid that invoice.

(6) The Water Supply Upgrade Loan will become payable on the completion of the
contract for the installation of the Water Supply Upgrade in accordance with the
Financing Agreement and on the Director of Finance’s receipt of the dated and signed
Certificate of Completion.

Page 55 of 77



By-law 047 Water Supply Upgrade Lending Program
Paged of 6

Lien

Page 56 of 77

(7) For Financing Agreements entered into on or after December 9, 2025, the
Qualifying Property Owner will make equal payments of the principal over a standard
repayment term of five (5) years to repay the outstanding Water Supply Upgrade Loan,
on which interest will be payable as set out in the Financing Agreement.

(@) For Financing Agreements entered into on or after December 9, 2025, where the
Qualifying Property Owner meets the Hardship Criteria, the Director of Finance
may approve a Hardship Extension so that the repayment term is extended to a
repayment term of ten (10 years, with equal payments of principal over that term.
In determining eligibility, the Director of Finance may require the Qualifying
Property Owner to provide the same type of income documentation as required
under MODL Policy 049 Property Tax Rebate, or such other reasonable
documentation as the Director of Finance may request.

(b) Financing Agreements entered into before December 9, 2025 remain subject to
the repayment terms set out in the applicable Financing Agreement that was in
effect at the time that the agreement was signed.

(8) The Municipality will not be responsible for ongoing maintenance and operating
costs of the Water Supply Upgrade. The Water Supply Upgrade is owned and
maintained by the Qualifying Property.

(9) The Director of Finance will maintain a separate account of all monies due for the
Water Supply Upgrade Loan, identifying the following for the Qualifying Property:

(@) The names of the property owners, assessment account number, PID, and civic
addresses;

(b) the original amount of the Water Supply Upgrade Loan advanced,;

(c) the scheduled amounts paid to the Municipality to repay the Water Supply
Upgrade Loan, with principal and interest paid clearly distinguished; and

(d) an annual statement of account on the anniversary date of the Water Supply
Upgrade Loan, showing the principal balance owing at the end of the previous
year, total amount paid during the year, amount of interest included in the
payments, and balance of the principal owing at the end of the year.

(1) The Water Supply Upgrade Loan advanced in the form of the Municipality paying
the Contractor’s invoices when submitted for payment will become a lien levied on the
Qualifying Property in accordance with tNanicipal Government Act



By-law 047 Water Supply Upgrade Lending Program
Page5 of 6

(2) The Water Supply Upgrade Loan advanced pursuant to this By-law constitutes a
first lien on the property and has the same effect as rates and taxes under the
Assessment Act

(3) The lien provided for in this By-law will remain in effect until the total Water
Supply Upgrade Loan, including any accrued interest and administrative charges, has
been paid in full.

(4) Inthe event of default, the Water Supply Upgrade Loan will be collected in the
same way as overdue taxes in accordance withMloaicipal Government Act

Interest

6 (1) Interest will begin accruing on any portion of the Water Supply Upgrade Loan
thirty (30) days from the date that the Municipality pays the Contractor invoice for that
portion.

(2) Interest is payable on the amount of the Water Supply Upgrade Loan deemed
outstanding at the rate set out in Policy 058 Fees, as amended from time to time.

By-law Adoption

Effective date of original by-law July 19, 2023

Date of first reading November 25, 2025
Date of advertisement of notice of intent to consider Nov 25 & Dec 3, 2025
Date of second reading December 9, 2025

Date of advertisement of passage of by-law

Effective date of the by-law unless otherwise specified in the tex
this by-law.

Date of mailing a certified copy of by-law to Minister

| certify that By-law 047 Potable Water Supply Upgrade Lending Program was adopted by
Municipal Council and published as indicated above.

Signature of Municipal Clerk Date

Page 57 of 77



By-law 047 Water Supply Upgrade Lending Program

Pageb of 6
Version Amendment Description Approval Date
Original Potable Water Supply Upgrade Lending Program July 19, 2023
V2 Establish a 5-year repayment term for new agreemeni3ec 9, 2025

including hardship clause, effective Jan 1, 2026; remove
stacking provision with Clean Energy Financing and
align with by-law 031; housekeeping amendments.

Page 58 of 77



Council

Item #11.2.1

December 9, 2025
Authorization: T. MacEwan

The Municipality of the District of Lunenburg
Request for Decision

Report to: Municipal Council

Submitted by: Elana Wentzell, CPA, CMA

Date: December 9, 2025

Re: Uncollectible Accounts for Write off Consideration
Recommendation

Move that Municipal Council write off accounts totaling $13,102.56.

Executive summary

The Municipal Government Act (Section 38) allows Municipal Council to write off amounts
related to accounts that the Treasurer considers uncollectible. The Treasurer has a duty to
bring these accounts to Council to discuss collection efforts made and give reasons why the
accounts should be written off.

Discussion

Currently, there are four accounts for write off consideration:

Description Account | Amount Reason
Number

Property Account 08208786 | $1,900.76 Mobile home has been removed

made inactive by ($1,341.34 + from property. Owner cannot

PVSC (mobile home Interest) be located. Staff have mailed

removed) invoices to address on file. Cogt
would exceed benefit of
pursuing in Small Claims Court.

Page 59 of 77



December 9, 2025

Page2 of 3
Description Account | Amount Reason
Number

Property Account 10094895 | $938.31 Mobile home has been removed

made inactive by ($662.16 + Interest) | from property. Owner cannot

PVSC (mobile home be located. Staff have mailed

removed) invoices to address on file. Cost
would exceed benefit of
pursuing in Small Claims Court.

Property Account 05050626 | $268.46 Mobile home has been removed

made inactive by ($189.45 + Interest) | from property. Owner cannot

PVSC (mobile home be located. Staff have mailed

removed) invoices to address on file. Cost
would exceed benefit of
pursuing in Small Claims Court.

Change of Use on 10638305 | $9,995.03 Staff mailed invoices to address

Property — sold in 10625599 | ($6,880.20 + on file; also mailed invoices to

2020 — PVSC filed 10702747 | Interest) alternate addresses. The bill

change of use remains unpaid.

assessment in 2021 tp The amount suggests it might be

previous owner as worth pursuing, but staff

new owners deemed believe that this billing would be

not responsible for difficult to collect based on the

the change of use. delays by PVSC not assessing
the change of use when the
properties changed hands.

Strategic Focus
N/A

Budget/Financial Implications

Staff ensure collection avenues are pursued when reasonable to do so, and those that cannot
be collected are brought to Council’s attention as per the Municipal Government Act. Writing
off these accounts will have the effect of increasing bad debt expense in the current fiscal year
by the total amount of the write off, but it will be offset by the allowance for doubtful accounts
calculation performed at year end.

Climate Change/sustainability
N/A

Page 60 of 77



December 9, 2025

Page3 of 3

Inclusion, Diversity, Equity and Accessibility (IDEA@MODL)
N/A

Strategic Communications
N/A

Work plan
N/A

Alternatives

Council has the option to make no adjustments at this time.

Conclusion

The Treasurer has a duty to inform Council of the accounts that cannot be reasonably collected
through existing means and recommend those accounts to be written off.

Department Finance Department

Report Prepared by Elana Wentzell, Director of Finance
Report Approved by

Date Reviewed by C.A.O.

Page 61 of 77



Council

ltem #12.2
Request for Agenda Items under December 9, 2025

Mayor’s/Deputy Mayor’s/Councillors’ Matters Authorization: T. MacEwan

TO: Chief Administrative Officer
FROM: Deputy Mayor Veinotte
DATE: December 1, 2025

1. Agenda ltem _
Request for Letter of Support to Province - Big Tancook Island Speed Limits

2. On what agenda do you want the item placed?
Council - December 9, 2025

3. Do you have written material to circulate with the agenda? Yes No |:|

If you do, please attach it to this form. If you do not, please explain.
See attached.

4.  What s its relevance to Council or the committee?
MLA Danielle Barkhouse has indicated MODL Council should send a letter of support to the

province to advance this request (see attached email).

5.  What outcome(s) are you seeking?
Letter sent to the Province with a copy to MLA Danielle Barkhouse.

Chasidy Veinotte December 1, 2025
Councillor's Signature Date

Approval for agenda: Yes l:‘ No I:I

Reason for Denial:

Mayor or Chair of Committee Date

3|Page

Page 62 of 77



Chasidy Veinotte

S
From:
Sent: November 17, 2025 1:20 PM
To: Chasidy Veinotte
Subject: Fw: Submission of Petition and Letters of Support — Request to Lower Big Tancook
Island Speed Limit
Attachments: Petition - Big Tancook Island.pdf; Letter of support - BTI - Borrie.pdf; Letter of support

- BTl - Bauman.pdf; Letter of support - BTI - BTl Elementary School.pdf; Letter of
support - BTl - BTI Harbour Authority.pdf; Letter of support - BTI - BTIERA.pdf; Letter of
support - BTl - Dionne.pdf; Letter of support - BTI - TIRCA.pdf; Letter of support - BTI -
Tancook Islands Marine Field Station.pdf

Learn why this is important

g You don't often get email from

CAUTION: This email originated from an external sender.
Hello Chasidy,

| received another letter of support this morning from the Tancook Islands Marine Field Station. | have attached it.

Thank you so much,

Katrina Swift
(she/her)

From:

Sent: November 17, 2025 10:02 AM

To: Chasidy Veinotte <chasidy.veinotte@mod!.ca>

Cc: Danielle Barkhouse <barkhousemla@gmail.com>

Subject: Submission of Petition and Letters of Support — Request to Lower Big Tancook Island Speed Limit

Dear Councillor Veinotte,

I hope you are well. | am writing to formally submit a community petition regarding road safety on Big Tancook
Island, along with several letters of support from residents, professionals, and key island organizations.

As you know, concerns about the current 50 km/h speed limit have been raised by many residents over the years.
With our gravel and dirt roads, numerous blind corners and hidden driveways, and a very large deer population,
maintaining safe driving speeds is a challenge even for those familiar with the island’s terrain. The community feels
strongly that lowering the speed limit to 30 km/h is a reasonable and necessary measure to protect residents,
visitors, and the island environment.

Attached to this email is the petition [ circulated, which received over 150 signatures—representing every full-time
resident of Big Tancook Island as well as numerous part-time residents who care deeply about the community. |
have also included six letters of support, submitted by:

e [ndividual concerned residents

e Two part-time residents who are Family Physicians and mothers of young children

1
Page 63 of 77



e The Big Tancook Island Harbour Authority
e The Tancook Island Recreational Centre Association (TIRCA)
e The Big Tancook Island Elementary Schoor

e The Big Tancook Island Emergency Response Association

Together, these signatures and letters reflect a unified and thoughtful community perspective, emphasizing the
importance of safer road speeds both now and in anticipation of increased vehicle traffic when the new ferry begins
service.

I respectfully ask that this petition and the accompanying letters be brought forward to Council at the earliest
possible opportunity.

Thank you very much for your time, attention, and continued support for Big Tancook Island. If you need any
additional information, | would be more than happy to provide it.

Warm regards,

Katrina Swift
(she/her)

Page 64 of 77




Tancook Island Recreational Centre Association (TIRCA)
Big Tancook Island, Nova Scotia
30 October 2025

Municipality of the District of Lunenburg
210 Aberdeen Road
Bridgewater, NS B4V 4G8

Attention: Councillor Chassidy Veinotte, District 10 (Deputy Mayor)

Re: Support for Lowering the Speed Limit on Big Tancook Island
Dear Councillor Veinotte,

The Tancook Island Recreational Centre Association (TIRCA) is pleased to
express its strong support for the request to lower the posted speed limit
on Big Tancook Island from 50 km/h to 30 km/h.

Our organization works to provide safe and welcoming spaces for
community gatherings, youth activities, and seasonal events that bring
together residents and visjtors alike. As the number of people travelling to
the island continues to grow, and with the introduction of the new car
ferry service, ensuring a safe environment for pedestrians—especially
children and seniors—has become a shared community priority.

Many of our members, and those who regularly visit the Rec Centre, walk,
cycle, or use ATVs and utility vehicles to get around the island. The
current speed limit does not reflect the reality of our narrow gravel roads,
where visibility is often limited and foot traffic is common. Lowering the
limit to 30 km/h would help preserve the relaxed, community-minded
pace that defines island life while making our shared spaces safer for
everyone.

TIRCA fully supports this initiative and encourages the Municipality of the
District of Lunenburg to bring this request forward to the Province. We
believe this change will have a lasting, positive impact on community
well-being and visitor safety.

Thank you for your time and for your continued support of Big Tancook
Island.

Page 65 of 77



Sincerely,

Kathleen Long Gray
Chair, Tancook Island Recreational Centre Association

Page 66 of 77




Tancook Islands Marine Field Station
Big Tancook Island, Nova Scotia

Municipality of the District of Lunenburg
210 Aberdeen Road
Bridgewater, NS B4V 4G8
17" November 2025,

Attention: Councillor Chassidy Veinotte, District 10 (Deputy Mayor)
Re: Support for Lowering the Speed Limit on Big Tancook Island
Dear Councillor Veinotte,

The Tancook Islands Marine Field Station strongly supports the request from Big Tancook
[sland residents to reduce the island’s speed limit from 50 km/h to 30 km/h.

The Tancook Islands Marine Field Station, affiliated with the University of Windsor and
other local and international partners conducts marine and environmental research focused on
Atlantic Canada’s marine ecosystems, with a particular emphasis on white shark ecology and
ocean health. Each year, researchers, students, and international collaborators visit Big Tancook
Island to engage in field studies, community science, and environmental education programs.
This includes the current development of an Education and Outreach Centre to directly engage
with the general public on a daily basis.

A lower speed limit would directly contribute to the safety and well-being of both
residents, the scientific team and members of the general public when visiting or resident a the
Tancook islands Marine Field Station, while also protecting the island’s fragile landscape and
wildlife. Big Tancook’s gravel roads are narrow and winding, shared by pedestrians including
children, cyclists, and a substantial deer population. Reducing vehicle speeds would help
prevent accidents, minimize road degradation, and preserve the quiet natural setting that
supports our research and educational activities.

With the introduction of the new car ferry service, the island will soon welcome more
visitors and vehicles than ever before. Implementing a 30 km/h limit is a simple yet important
step toward ensuring that this increased access aligns with the community’s longstanding values
of safety, stewardship, and respect for the islands and its wildlife.

The Tancook Islands Marine Field Station is proud to support this initiative and encourages the
Municipality of the District of Lunenburg to bring this request forward to the Province on behalf
of island residents.

Sincerely,
W™

Dr. Nigel E. Hussey
Co-Director - Tancook Islands Marine Field Station
Associate Professor - Department of Integrative Biology - University of Windsor.

Page 67 of 77



Big Tancook Elementary School
39 School Roud

Brg Tunceok Istand, Nova Scotia
Oxlaber 20, 2025

Muntespality of the [histrict ot Lunerburg
210 Aberdeen Road
Bridgewater. NS B4V 40K

Attention: Councillor Chassidy Vernotte, Distnet 10 (Deputy Mavar
Re: Support for Lowering the Speed Limit on Big Tancook Island
Dear Cauncitlor Vematie,

As the Primerpal and teacher w Big Tuncook Elementary School, | am wriimg o express my
support Lor the request o reduce the speed it on Big Tancook Ishand Trons SO Keovh o 30 ke

Our school provides education from Pre-Prnimary through Grade 5 and presently serves hve
students, The children spend a great deal of tme outdoars, walking between the school and the
nearby community spaces, and explonng the naturad environment that surrounds ther classioom,
The stfower pace of lite and close connection (o nature are central to the leaming expenence we
are ahle o provide here,

Whtle T commute dasly from the nunnland by termy, [ see irsthand how marrow and winding the
iand’s roads are. They are often shared by walkers, eyehists, and children at play. A tower speed
Bt would go a long way i easuring thit evenyone —espectally our youngest commuiity
members — can move safely and contidenthy around the island,

With the new car lomy service expected o bring more visttors and vehiscles w Beg Tancook

Istand, thes s an deal ime o remforee sate dnviog habits and set clear expectations for anyone
exploning the istand by car A 30 kmvh limut would hielp protect both residents and visitors while
preserving the quiet, welcoming atmosphere that defines this umigque place of leaming and hiving

Thank you tor your trme and Tor your continued support ot our sland commumty and 1ts school

Steerely,

fL.LGruﬁ\»L&{/u
Ellen Smith

Principal and Teacher
Big Tuncook Elementary School

Page 68 of 77



Big Tancook Island Harbour Authority
Big Tancook [slund, Novi Scotig
October 15, 2025

Mumcipahty of the District of Lunenburg
210 Aberdeen Road
Bridgewater, NS B4V 4GR

Attention: Councillor Chassidy Venotte, District 10 (Deputy Mayor)
Re: Support for Lowering the Speed Limit on Big Tancook Island
Dear Councillor Vemnotte,

The Big Tancook [sland Harbour Authority tully supports the request from residents (o have the
speed limit on Big Tancook Island reduced from 50 km/h to 30 km/h.

As the orgamization responsible Tor managing harbour infrastructure and operations, we are
acutely aware of the changimg nature of transportion to and from the island. The introduction of
the new car ferrv will bring new opportumties [or residents, busiesses, and visttors alike, but it
also culls for renewed attention o road salely and community readiness,

The island’s roads are not designed or higher speeds— they are narrow, gravel, und shared by
pedestrians, cvehists, the occasional service vehicle, and ample wildhite. A 30 km/h himit would
encourage cautious drnving and help nuuntain a pace of travel consistent with the island’s small
scale and rural environment.

From an opetational standpoint, the Harbour Authonity views i lower speed limit as a proactive
step that will help reduce the nisk of inadents involving vistors unfamiliar with local conditions,
particularly near the terry terminal and other public access points. [is a simple, preventive
measure that supports both public salety and the long-term sustwnability of island infrastructure.

We appreciate your continued advocacy for our community and respectiully ask that you bring
this matter forward to Council lor consideraton.

Sincerely,

[Xavid Baker
President, Big Tancook Island Harbow Authority

Page 69 of 77



Big Tancook Island Emergency Response Association

W Btiern awncigimail com

@ "0 Box 73

W Schinol Rewd

Hig Tancook bdand, Novi Seotia
ELRIRH

Mumaipality of the District of Lunenbury
210 Aberdeen Road
Bridgewater, NS B4V 4G8

Attention Councillor Cassidy Veinotte, District 10 (Deputy Mayor)

Dear Councilor Vemotte

I am writing 10 you regarding the campaign to reduce the speed limit on Big Tancook Island from
SO kmi/h to 30 km/h

With recent incidents in mind, and with the upcoming introduction of a car ferry service to the
island along with anticipated increase in vehicle and cycling traflic, 1 feel that the adoption of
this proposal would be beneficial (o residents and visitors alike

As 1 undersiand the relevant legislation, the province sets the default speed limit of S0 km/h, but
the Municipality may lower that speed under local bylaw, subject to provincial approval

If this is the case, I hope you and MODL. will support the campaign to lower the speed limit in
our commuity.

Thank you in advance for your attention to this matter.

Kind regards, \

[ )
e ¥,
-~ o :,'

Pater Stephens
Fire Chief - Tancook Island Fire &amp, Medical
Chair — Big Tancook [sland Emergency Response Association

Page 70 of 77



To Whom It May Concern:

My name is Hillary Dionne and | own and operate a small, seasonal
business on Big Tancook Island, Nova Scotia. Seventeen years ago |
opened Wishing Stones Studio & Gallery; a photo gallery, library,
museum and artisan shop at 151 Southeast Cove Road.

All of the island’s roads are unpaved and there are really no stretches
where vehicles can safely drive at the currently posted speed limit of 50
km/h. It’s just not necessary to reach that speed here. In fact, it is
dangerous to do so in most areas.

My shop is open June through September and my front door is propped
open for visitors, rain or shine. Rain on the doorstep has never been an
issue, but clouds of dust from passing vehicles is constant and loose
gravel spun up from the road and into my shop is occasional, when
someone turns the corner too fast.

The dust is part of life here, but it is so much worse when passing
vehicles are going fast. Flying gravel is absolutely unnecessary and it’s
dangerous and damaging.

My biggest concern is when the car ferry commences and people
unfamiliar with the island and our roads will come here in their vehicles
and see speed limit signs of 50 km/h and try to drive accordingly. It is
just not safe to drive that speed here.

| am very much in favour of having the speed limit for the island’s roads
reduced. The speed | can comfortably reach on the two straight
stretches of road here is 35 km/h, and if the limit could be dropped to
that, it would be safer for everyone.

Thank you for taking the time to listen to my concerns. | truly believe
reducing the speed limit might prevent future accidents from happening.

Sincerely,

Hillary Dionne
Island resident since 1978

Page 71 of 77



Page 72 of 77


















	Agenda page
	Item 10.1

